
AGENDA REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
DATE & TIME Wednesday, June 15, 2022 - 7:00 PM

Closed Session - 6:00 PM
LOCATION
Pursuant to Assembly Bill No.361 (Chapter 165,Statutes of 2021) approved by the 
Governor on September 16,2021) codified at Government Code Section 54953 a local 
legislative body is authorized to hold public meetings remotely via teleconferencing 
without complying with the teleconferencing requirements imposed by the Ralph M. 
Brown Act  when, among other requirements, a legislative body of a local agency holds 
a meeting during a proclaimed state emergency, and makes the public meeting 
accessible  “via a call-in option or an internet-based service option” to all members of the 
public seeking to access and attend the meeting, offer public comment, and address the 
legislative body. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
Public access to this meeting is available as follows:
Join Zoom Meeting:
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89822835206?pwd=K1d1Qng1TlBsY01uWlRHaEx2U3JSdz0
9

Meeting ID:  898 2283 5206
Passcode:  023235

Persons wishing to address the Board of Commissioners are asked to submit comments 
for the public speaking portion of the Agenda as follows:

Send an email with your comment(s) to jpolar@alamedahsg.org and 
vcooper@alamedahsg.org prior to or during the Board of Commissioners meeting
Call and leave a message at (510) 871-7435.

When addressing the Board, on agenda items or business introduced by 
Commissioners, members of the public may speak for a maximum of three minutes per 
agenda item when the subject is before the Board.

Persons in need of special assistance to participate in the meetings of the Housing 
Authority of the City of Alameda Board of Commissioners, please contact (510) 747-
4325 (voice), TTY/TRS: 711, or jpolar@alamedahsg.org. Notification 48 hours prior to 
the meeting will enable the Housing Authority of the City of Alameda Board of 
Commissioners to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility.  



Regular Meeting of the Board of Commissioners June 15, 2022 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

1. ROLL CALL

2. BOARD COMMISSIONER RECUSALS

3. Public Comment (Non-Agenda)

4. Closed Session - 6:00 p.m. - Adjournment to Closed Session to Consider:

4.A. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR pursuant to
Government Code Section 54956.8.
Property Location: 1845 Bay Street, Alameda, CA 94501, 1825 Paru Street, 
 Alameda, CA 94501, 1416 Sherman Street, Alameda, CA 94501, 745 Lincoln 
Avenue, Alameda, CA 94501, 2102 Clement Avenue, Alameda, CA 94501, 2116 
Clement Avenue, Alameda, CA 94501, 1911 Mulberry Street, Alameda, CA 
94501, 2101 Eagle Avenue, Alameda, CA 94501, 2137 Otis Drive , Alameda, 
CA 94501, 2209 Otis Drive, Alameda, CA 94501, 1825 Shoreline Drive, 
Alameda, CA 94501, 955 Shorepoint Court , Alameda, CA 94501, 955 
Shorepoint Court, Alameda, CA 94501, 955 Shorepoint Court, Alameda, CA 
94501, 965 Shorepoint Court , Alameda, CA 94501
Assessor’s Parcel Numbers: 73-425-1, 72-384-68, 72-345-25-1, 73-414-14, 71-
228-3, 71-228-10, 71228-24, 71-228-46, 71-228-46, 74-1230-104, 74-1230-129,
74-1250-17, 74-1285-300, 74-1285-275, 74-1285-272, 74-1285-220
Agency Negotiation: Vanessa Cooper, Executive Director, Stephanie Shipe,
Director of Portfolio Management, Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing
Development and Cheley Quiambo, Asset Manager
Negotiating Parties: Housing Authority of the City of Alameda and Alameda
Affordable Housing Corporation
Property Owner: Housing Authority of the City of Alameda
Under Negotiation: Investment in Real Property, Price and Terms of Payment

4.B. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR pursuant to
Government Code Section 54956.8.
Property Location: 1825 Poggi Street Alameda, CA 94501
Assessor’s Parcel Numbers: 74-451-1-8
Agency Negotiation: Vanessa Cooper, Executive Director and Sylvia Martinez, 
Director of Housing Development
Negotiating Parties: Housing Authority of the City of Alameda and Vue Alameda 
Owner L.P.
Property Owner: Vue Alameda Owner L.P.
Under Negotiation: Investment in Real Property, Price and Terms of Payment

4.C. CONFFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR Pursuant to
Government Code Section 54956.8.
Property Location: 1628 Webster Street, Alameda CA 94501
Assessor’s Parcel Number 73-418-4-1
Agency Negotiators: Vanessa Cooper, Executive Director, and Sylvia Martinez, 
Director of Housing Development, Negotiating Parties: Alameda Hospitality, 



Regular Meeting of the Board of Commissioners June 15, 2022 

LLC; Under Negotiation: Price and Terms of Payment.

4.D. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(a)
Conference with Legal counsel re existing litigation:  Housing Authority of the 
City of Alameda v. Johnson, Alameda County Superior Court No. RG18-933615

4.E. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(a)
Conference with Legal counsel re existing litigation:  Housing Authority of the 
City of Alameda v. Camanag, Alameda County Superior Court No. RG21109420

5. Adjournment of Closed Session

6. RECONVENE REGULAR MEETING - 7:00 p.m.

7. Announcement of Action Taken in Closed Session, if any.

8. Public Comment (Non-Agenda)

9. CONSENT CALENDER
Consent Calendar items are considered routine and will be approved or
accepted by one motion unless a request for removal for discussion or
explanation is received from the Board of Commissioners or a member of the
public.

9.A. Approve Minutes of the Board of Commissioners Meeting held May 18, 2022.

9.B. Accept  the Communications and Outreach Plan Update.

9.C. Accept the Monthly Overview Report for Housing Development.

9.D. Accept the Monthly Development Report for Rosefield Village.

9.E. Accept Revised Procurement Policy.

9.F. Accept the Monthly Overview Report for the Alameda Rent Program and
Authorize the Executive Director or Designee to take all actions necessary to 
transfer the Program to the City, by the target date of October 1, 2022, including, 
if necessary, issuing a 180-day notice to the City.

10. AGENDA

10.A. Moving To Work Presentation.

10.B. Establish a Nominating Ad Hoc Committee for the Appointment of the Chair and
Vice Chair of the Board of Commissioners for the Period of July 1, 2022 - June 
30, 2023.

10.C. Approve Amended and Restated Island City Development (ICD) Bylaws and
Accept Names for Appointee to the ICD Board.

10.D. Authorize the Executive Director to Negotiate and Execute a Purchase and Sale
Agreement for 1628 Webster Street.

10.E. Authorize the Executive Director, or her designee, to Execute an Option for
Island City Development, or its affiliate, to purchase the Improvements at 1628 
Webster Street.

10.F. Adopt Resolution of the Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the

Page 5
Page 14

Page 23
Page 26

Page 40

Page 69

Page 81

Page 101

Page 103

Page 117

Page 167



Regular Meeting of the Board of Commissioners June 15, 2022 

City of Alameda Ratifying the Proclamation of a State of Emergency by the 
Governor of the State of California on March 4, 2021, and Making Findings 
Authorizing Continued Remote Teleconference Meetings of the Board of 
Commissioners Pursuant to Brown Act Provisions, as amended by Assembly Bill 
No. 361.

11. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS, Non-Agenda (Public Comment)

12. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S COMMUNICATIONS

13. COMMISSIONER COMMUNICATIONS, (Communications from the
Commissioners)

14. CONTINUATION OF CLOSED SESSION OF HOUSING AUTHORITY BOARD
OF COMMISSIONERS – IF NEEDED

15. Announcement of Action Taken in Closed Session, if any.

16. ADJOURNMENT

* * * Note * * *

Documents related to this agenda are available on-line at:  
http://www.alamedahsg.org/cms/One.aspx?portalId=3723405&pageId=5912638
Know Your RIGHTS Under The Ralph M. Brown Act: Government’s duty is to 
serve the public, reaching its decisions in full view of the public.  The Board of 
Commissioners exists to conduct the business of its constituents. Deliberations 
are conducted before the people and are open for the people’s review.  In order 
to assist the Housing Authority’s efforts to accommodate persons with severe 
allergies, environmental illnesses, multiple chemical sensitivity or related 
disabilities, attendees at public meetings are reminded that other attendees may 
be sensitive to various chemical based products. Please help the Housing 
Authority accommodate these individuals.

Page 174



 

DRAFT MINUTES 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

WEDNESDAY, MAY 18, 2022 
 

 
 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 
 



 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  



 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 

 



 
 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 

Items accepted or adopted are indicated by an asterisk. 

 

  
 

 

 



 

  

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

  

 

  

 

 
 

 

 



 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 



   

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners
 

From: Joshua Altieri, Community Relations Manager 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Accept  the Communications and Outreach Plan Update. 

BACKGROUND
AHA hired a Community Relations Manager to work on a number of communications 
and outreach activites. The Communications and Outreach Plan was created to identify 
goals and track progress towards those goals. 

DISCUSSION
The attached report provides a progress update on the goals set forth in the 
Communications and Outreach Plan.   

FISCAL IMPACT
Staff has already budgeted for these activities in the current and next fiscal year. 

CEQA
N/A 

RECOMMENDATION
Review the 2021-202 Communications and Outreach Plan. 

ATTACHMENTS
1. AHA Communication Plan Update 4-8-2022

Respectfully submitted,

Joshua Altieri, Community Relations Manager



















   

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners
 

From: Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing Development 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Accept the Monthly Overview Report for Housing Development. 

BACKGROUND
This memo provides an overview of the Housing Development departmental activities 
for the prior month. 

DISCUSSION

Island City Development

The Housing Authority previously made two predevelopment loans to Island City 
Development (ICD) on behalf of two development projects: North Housing and 
Rosefield Village.  In July 2021, the Alameda Affordable Housing Trust Fund awarded 
$7,500,000 and a Letter of Intent for $2,500,000 (contingent on an award from the Local 
Housing Trust Fund program of the State of California).  Additional loan awards were 
made in the updated Reserve Policy (approved in May 2022 by the Board) and staff is 
using these awards to submit seven funding applications to the State and other local 
sources to move four affordable developments forward.  

Affordable Housing Project Pipeline

Rosefield Village – An update report on the project is presented as a separate Board 
item.
North Housing – This project will provide a quarterly update in August.
2615 Eagle (Tilden Commons) - This project will provide a quarterly update in August.
Alameda Adaptive Reuse(1628 Webster Street) - This project is discussed in several 
BOC reports in the current Agenda.

–Acquisitions 

1. Pulte purchases – Six more purchases will occur before the end of 2022. 
Previously purchased units have been leased to low income households, 
including housing choice voucher holders. 



2. 1825 Poggi Street – This loan and regulatory agreement is expected to close in 
June or early July 2022.

 
Staff continues to evaluate potential real estate development and acquisition 
opportunities throughout Alameda as they become available.
 
New Funding Opportunities
Staff is applying in both the Housing Authority Project Based Voucher RFP and the 
State of California Super NOFA (Notice of Funding Availability).  Staff contemplates 
applying for up to four projects by June 28, 2022.  In addition, staff is reviewing the RFP 
released but postponed by the City of Alameda for a partner in a Homekey 3.0 project. 
Both John Stewart and Company Property Management and Lifesteps are supporting 
these applications with documents required to show experience and standard 
management and service plans.  

Staff notes that as the State of California  becomes a larger and more significant funder 
of projects, their financial underwriting and competitive application terms are becoming 
increasingly important.  For instance, staff would like to highlight the competitive 
requirement to include 25% homeless housing in all projects (filled by the Coordinated 
Entry System run by the County which favors smaller households with greater 
challenges).  In addition, the State funding has a substantial monitoring fee that must be 
paid, and typically requires 50% residual receipts payments in addition.  The State may 
not allow residual receipts payments under a ground lease to qualify for a share of 
residual receipts, as has been typically structured in the Housing Authority ground 
leases.  Staff will continue to update the Board on the changing environment around 
terms and requirements.

On June 7, 2022, the North Housing PSH I development was awarded a total of 
$1,265,000 in funding from the City of Alameda, which recently distributed CDBG, 
HOME, and inclusionary housing funds to various projects in the City.  This amount of 
funding is significant for a small city, and a strong commitment to the North Housing 
development.
 
Construction in Progress
Staff is prioritizing three items in Construction in Progress (preparation for renovations 
on portfolio properties):  

1. Balcony repair at Independence Plaza  - With Board approval in May, this 
work is being contracted with the plan to start renovation in July and 
complete in November 2022. 

2. PNA’s (Physical Needs Assessments) for the property portfolio  -  PNA 
inspections began this week.

3. 2615 Eagle Ave.- We have solicited and received bids for the following 
scope of work and anticipate finalizing contracts and contractors beginning 
work by June 7, 2022.

4. A. Concrete removal and replacement at the existing driveway due to 



neighboring tree roots are lifting the existing concrete, causing a safety/trip 
hazard.      
B. Installation of a security/surveillance system with smoke/fire detection 
capability.
C. The property has been re-keyed for security purposes.

5. The 701 Atlantic garage/office remodel  - The RFQ Draft is being reviewed 
and is expected to be issued this summer.

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A 

CEQA
N/A 

RECOMMENDATION
Accept the Monthly Overview Report for Housing Development. 

ATTACHMENTS
None 

Respectfully submitted,

Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing Development



   

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners
 

From: Allyson Ujimori, Senior Project Manager 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Accept the Monthly Development Report for Rosefield Village. 

BACKGROUND
The Housing and Community Development Department provides monthly reports on 
projects under construction where either the Housing Authority of the City of Alameda 
(AHA) or Island City Development (ICD) is acting as developer and provides 
performance guarantees.

The Rosefield Village project includes new construction of 78 units and renovation of 14 
units, totaling 92 units, located on the 700 block of Buena Vista Avenue. ICD is the 
developer. The overall project scope includes both the rehabilitation of existing 
structures and the construction of a new building in the middle of the site. In addition to 
the 78 units, the new central building includes onsite laundry facilities, property 
management offices, social service coordination offices, a community room, and central 
courtyard with recreation areas. Twelve existing units, in five buildings, on the east and 
west sides of the new building will be renovated, and one house will be converted into a 
duplex. Please see previous monthly Board Reports for project details prior to this 
month's update. 

DISCUSSION
The overall project completion and billing percentage, through May 31, 2022, is 
approximately 98%. This month’s construction activities included the continuation of the 
interior painting, flooring installation, appliance installation, completion of the elevator, 
rehab of some of the rehab units, and continuation of site work and landscaping. The 
new construction building received a Temporary Certificate of Occupancy and Owner 
approval of units and common areas is underway. There may be delays in leasing up 
two non-tax credit units due to water connection issues, which are anticipated to resolve 
in early Fall 2022. These two units are not tax-credit units and thus do not substantially 
hold up the financing of the property. Staff is tracking the obligations to the investor and 
is working diligently with the utility company to resolve the issue as soon as possible.

There are no change orders this month. To date, the project has utilized approximately 



23% of its hard cost contingency, which is well under the project’s percent 
complete. Owner contingency funds are held separately from the contract and when 
change orders are approved, the original construction contract value will increase 
accordingly as shown in the table below.
 
Given the project cost savings, Staff proposed a few upgrades to the project. These 
upgrades include installation of solar photovoltaic system to offset common area 
electricity in the building, roofing upgrades, and landscaping upgrades on the east side 
of the property to evoke the design of the main courtyard.
 
 Contingency Utilization

Original 
Budget

Previous 
Revisions

Current 
Revisions

Revised 
Budget

Construction 
Contract

$38,218,849 $970,715 $0 $39,269,564

Hard Cost 
Contingency

$4,586,262 -$970,715 $0 $3,615,546

Soft Cost 
Contingency

$300,000 -$255,368 -$13,837 $30,795

 General Construction Contract Utilization

Contract Total Value of Work 
Completed to 

Date

Retention 
Witheld

Amounts Paid 
to Date

Balance to 
Finish

$39,269,564 $38,297,982 $3,362,492 $34,935,490 $4,334,074

Staff continues to work with AHA Portfolio Management Department and the John 
Stewart Company (JSCo) on relocation needs. Earlier this month the temporarily 
relocated household permanently moved to their newly rehabilitated home. The other 
occupied unit was permanently relocated to another unit at the property due to 
construction complications discussed above. Staff is working to close out all relocation 
obligations. Below is an update on the relocation status through May 31, 2022:
 

Total Units Vacant 
Units

Moves 
Completed

Currently 
Occupied

Remaining 
Units to 

Permanently 
Relocate

Remaining 
Units 

Temporarily 
Relocated

53 50 31 2* 0 1

 * There was one tenant-occupied unit at 738A Eagle Ave that was permanently 
relocated to another unit at the property. While 738 is vacated, the general contractor 
will use it as a temporary office.



 
Leasing
Project staff is working with the Portfolio Management and Housing Programs 
Departments and the John Stewart Company (JSCo) to lease-up the site. The project 
received over 8,700 applications. The team has set-up leasing goals and is working 
diligently to get the project leased up to meet its underwriting targets. In March 2022, 
the John Stewart Company began interviewing applicants. The tax credit program 
finalized 2022 rents in April 2022, and JSCo started sending files to compliance for 
approval. With City approval to occupy the building, staff is working to move residents in 
as quickly as possible. Staff hopes to occupy all units, except the two discussed above, 
within the next couple months. Please see below for the lease-up status as of May 31, 
2022. There are 68 non-PBV and 23 PBV slots at the property.

Lease-up Status Non-PBV Applicants PBV Applicants

Interviews scheduled 2 14

Applications being 
processed

78 14

Applications with 
Compliance

21 1

Offers made but not 
accepted

0 0

Units accepted, but not 
moved in

2 0

Units moved-in/leased 2 0

FISCAL IMPACT
The current construction draw schedule is shown below. The “$ Disbursed” includes the 
current draw amount.

 $ Budget $ Disbursed $ 
Disbursed

$ Balance

Land & 
Buildings

$17,435,451 $17,435,451 100% $0

Hard Costs $42,963,337 $35,337,813 82% $7,625,524

Soft Costs $16,153,390 $8,730,160 54% $7,423,230

Total $76,552,178 $61,503,424 80% $15,048,754



CEQA
This item is not applicable. 

RECOMMENDATION
Accept the Monthly Development Report for Rosefield Village. 

ATTACHMENTS
1. 9.D Attachment 1 - RV BoC Monthly Report

Respectfully submitted,

Allyson Ujimori, Senior Project Manager



Rosefield Village
Board of Commissioners
Item 9.D Monthly Report

June 15, 2022



Frontage off Buena Vista Avenue



Frontage off Buena Vista Avenue



Frontage off 
Eagle Avenue





Community 
Room



Community Room 
& Kitchen



Long-term Bike 
Parking





Bird’s-eye view of new construction & 
Rehab courtyards



To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners

From: Daniel Mills, Management Analyst 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Accept Revised Procurement Policy. 

BACKGROUND
The Procurement Policy outlines the methods by which the Agency will obtain goods 
and services.  It was last revised in March 2020.  Since that revision, AHA has been 
optimizing processes that should be reflected in the Procurement Policy.   

DISCUSSION
This revision to the policy briefly outlines the guidelines on when to utilize internal 
Purchase Orders and the "Best Practices" to be followed by the procuring individual(s) 
when a purchase order is employed.  This information can be found on pages 19-20 of 
the attached revised Procurement Policy. 

FISCAL IMPACT
There is no direct financial impact of these policy revisions, but the policy revisions will 
change how staff procure services and materials in the future. 

CEQA
N/A 

RECOMMENDATION
Accept the revised Housing Authority of the City of Alameda Procurement Policy. 

ATTACHMENTS
1. AHA Procurement Policy REVISED JUNE 2022_BOC_v3

Respectfully submitted,

Daniel Mills, Management Analyst



























































   

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners
 

From: Bill Chapin, Acting Director of Rent Stabilization Programs 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Accept the Monthly Overview Report for the Alameda Rent 
Program and Authorize the Executive Director or Designee to take 
all actions necessary to transfer the Program to the City, by the 
target date of October 1, 2022, including, if necessary, issuing a 
180-day notice to the City. 

BACKGROUND
For outcomes of submissions reviewed, please see the attached monthly report for the 
Alameda Rent Program. Archived monthly reports are available at 
www.alamedarentprogram.org.  

DISCUSSION
Rent Registry

On June 1, 2022, the Rent Program started the third annual program cycle since the 
launch of the Rent Registry in 2000. Pursuant to City Council Resolution 15771, the 
annual program fee assessed on each rental unit for 2022-2023 was updated to $155 
for fully regulated units and $105 for partially regulated units. Resolution 15771 also set 
an earlier deadline for fee payment starting in 2022; landlords have until July 31, 2022, 
to pay any fees owed, after which late penalties will be applied. Landlords were notified 
of the start of the cycle via:

4,122 postcards mailed to property owners in late May, asking them to verify 
registration information and submit any new exemption requests before making 
payment. 
3,948 fee invoices prepared by Rent Program staff to be mailed by the City of 
Alameda Finance Department.
An email newsletter sent on May 31, 2022, to 5,514 email addresses associated 
with rental properties in the Rent Registry.
Postings to the program website.



Additionally, an email newsletter sent to 3,303 recipients on May 31, 2022, and postings 
to the program website made the following announcements:

The Annual General Adjustment (AGA) for units subject to rent control will be 3.5 
percent effective September 1, 2022. The AGA is calculated at 70% of the 
percentage change in the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers ("CPI-
U") for the San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward area for the 12-month period ending 
in April. 
New relocation payment amounts for tenants who are permanently or temporarily 
displaced from rental units will go into effect on July 1, 2022. Pursuant to City 
Council Resolution 15602, relocation payments are updated annually based on 
the percentage change in the primary residence component of the Consumer 
Price Index for Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workers (“CPI-W”) for the San 
Francisco-Oakland-Hayward area for the 12-month period ending April. For April 
2022, the change in this CPI component was 0.8 percent.

Houseboat Regulation

On April 28, 2022, the City Council passed Ordinance 3317, which provides protections 
for tenants of rental units lawfully docked at a marina, including floating homes and 
other maritime residential tenancies. The urgency ordinance extends most of the 
protections of the City’s Rent Ordinance, including limits on rent increases and “no fault” 
terminations of tenancy, to these rental units, as well as the protections of the City’s 
COVID-19 eviction moratorium. The Rent Program is reaching out to marina owners 
and managers, and providing them with registration materials.

Rent Increases

As of May 1, 2022, landlords are permitted to serve tenants of units subject to rent 
control with a rent increase notice of no more than 2.7 percent, following the City 
Council’s easing of a rent increase moratorium enacted in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. The Local Declaration of Emergency remains in place. Under current 
regulations, this means that landlords are still not eligible to implement increases that 
make use of previous years’ “banked” rent increases, nor can they serve a notice of 
termination of tenancy based on Owner Move-In or an approved Capital Improvement 
Plan.

These recent changes to local rent regulations coupled with annual announcements 
have resulted in a high volume of calls from landlords, property managers, and tenants. 
Program staff continues to work with these stakeholders to process submissions, 
update registration information, address invalid rent increases, and answer questions.

On May 4, 2022, program staff provided the City Attorney’s Office with enforcement 
reports documenting unresolved cases involving invalid rent increases, failure to pay 



program fees, and additional cases of failure to register rental units for the 2021-2022 
program cycle. These referrals were made with the expectation that the City Attorney’s 
Office will take enforcement action to bring unregistered properties into compliance, 
resolve invalid rent increase issues and recoup uncollected annual program fees.

Early Termination of Services Agreement
   
On April 12, 2022, the City Council directed city staff to return with a plan to facilitate 
transitioning the Rent Program back to the City of Alameda as an “in house” component 
of the City Attorney’s Office. On June 7, 2022, City staff presented the Council with a 
recommendation to set October 1, 2022, as the transition date. This requires the mutual 
early termination of AHA’s Services Agreement, which is not due to expire until June 30, 
2023.

At the June 7, 2022 meeting, the City Council approved the early termination of the 
Rent Program agreement.  Staff will work with the City to complete the transfer of 
services and records in an orderly manner. AHA staff, General Counsel and the City 
Attorney have drafted and agreed upon a termination agreement which, similar to the 
transfer of the CDBG programs in 2020, sets out the timelines and various actions and 
responsibilities of each party in terminating the Services Agreement. The Board is 
asked to authorize the Executive Director or Designee to take all actions necessary to 
transfer the Program to the City, by the target date of October 1, 2022, including, if 
necessary, issuing a 180-day notice to the City.

Staffing 

Effective June 1, 2002, Greg Kats assumed a new position with AHA as the Director of 
Administrative Services, and Rent Program Analyst Bill Chapin stepped in as the Acting 
Rent Program Director.

Move Update
   
The move to City Hall West is expected to begin on or around September 19, 2022, with 
the goal that staff will be fully set up and ready to work in the new space by September 
26, 2022. This will allow time to clean up and close out the current offices for the 
expiration of the license at the end of the month. 

FISCAL IMPACT
The program is operating within its budget for 2021-22. 

CEQA
N/A 

RECOMMENDATION
Accept the Monthly Overview Report for the Alameda Rent Program and Authorize the 



Executive Director or Designee to take all actions necessary to transfer the Program to 
the City, by the target date of October 1, 2022, including, if necessary, issuing a 180-day 
notice to the City. 

ATTACHMENTS
1. 2022.05- MONTHLY REPORT

Respectfully submitted,

Bill Chapin, Acting Director of Rent Stabilization Programs



ALAMEDA RENT
PROGRAM

80 

980 

580

580 

ALAMEDA 880 

San 
Francisco 

Bay 

 



1 

Outreach

Contacts

PERSONALIZED 
SERVICE

INFORMATIONAL
WORKSHOPS

WEBSITE

INDIVIDUALS 
CONTACTED

TOTAL 
INQUIRIES

ATTENDEES USERS
TOTAL 

SESSIONS

JUL 2021 334 608 4 1,953 2,622

AUG 2021 278 495 2 1,817 2,493

SEP 2021 502 816 4 2,247 3,025

OCT 2021 296 445 3 1,842 2,665

NOV 2021 542 962 3 1,597 2,231

DEC 2021 470 854 7 1,559 2,210

JAN 2022 470 853 5 1,951 2,697

FEB 2022 403 810 4 1,763 2,536

MAR 2022 442 824 3 2,818 3,897

APR 2022 479 904 6 4,780 5,898

MAY 2022 436 770 6 3,571 4,524
JUN 2022

TOTAL 4,652 8,341 47 25,898 34,798

Activities 



2 

Rent Increase Submissions & Petitions

SUBMISSIONS BY TYPE

MONTH

LANDLORD INITIATED TENANT INITIATED

TOTALPETITION FOR 
UPWARD

ADJUSTMENT

REQUEST 
FOR STAFF 

REVIEW

RENT 
INCREASE 

> 10%

PETITION FOR 
DOWNWARD
ADJUSTMENT

REQUEST 
FOR STAFF 

REVIEW

JUL 2021 0 0 0 2 1 3
AUG 2021 0 0 0 1 1 2
SEP 2021 1 0 0 2 3 6
OCT 2021 0 0 0 0 0 0
NOV 2021 1 0 0 1 1 3
DEC 2021 0 0 0 1 11 12
JAN 2022 0 2 0 6 12 20
FEB 2022 0 1 0 1 4 6
MAR 2022 0 2 0 0 4 6
APR 2022 1 2 0 4 22 29

MAY 2022 0 0 0 1 4 5
JUN 2022

TOTAL 3 7 0 19 63 92



3 

PETITION OUTCOMES

MONTH
UPWARD 

RENT 
ADJUSTMENT

DOWNWARD 
RENT 

ADJUSTMENT

PETITION 
DENIED

PETITION 
WITHDRAWN

PENDING TOTAL

JUL 2021 0 1 0 1 0 2
AUG 2021 0 0 0 0 1 1
SEP 2021 0 0 1 1 1 3
OCT 2021 0 0 0 0 0 0
NOV 2021 1 0 0 1 0 2
DEC 2021 0 0 0 1 0 1
JAN 2022 0 3 0 1 2 6
FEB 2022 0 0 1 0 0 1
MAR 2022 0 0 0 0 0 0
APR 2022 0 0 0 1 4 5

MAY 2022 0 0 0 0 1 1
JUN 2022

TOTAL 1 4 2 6 9 22

STAFF REVIEW OUTCOMES

MONTH
NO 

VIOLATION

REGISTRATION
ERROR 

CORRECTED

RENT RESET 
& TENANT 

REFUNDED

INVALID 
NOTICE 

RESCINDED

REQUEST 
WITHDRAWN

PENDING TOTAL

JUL 2021 0 0 0 1 0 0 1
AUG 2021 0 0 0 1 0 0 1
SEP 2021 2 0 0 1 0 0 3
OCT 2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
NOV 2021 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
DEC 2021 1 1 2 1 0 6 11
JAN 2022 2 4 0 0 3 5 14
FEB 2022 0 2 1 0 0 2 5
MAR 2022 0 3 0 0 2 1 6
APR 2022 1 9 2 0 5 7 24

MAY 2022 1 1 0 0 0 2 4
JUN 2022

TOTAL 8 20 5 4 10 23 70



4 

Termination of Tenancy Submissions

ACTIVE WITHDRAWN

PENDING TOTALOWNER 
MOVE-

IN*

WITHDRAWAL 
FROM RENTAL 

MARKET
OTHER

FOR 
DEFICIENCY 

IN THE 
NOTICE

LANDLORD 
CHOSE TO 
RESCIND 

JUL 2021 0 1 0 2 0 0 3

AUG 2021 0 1 0 2 2 0 5

SEP 2021 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

OCT 2021 0 2 0 1 0 0 3

NOV 2021 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

DEC 2021 0 2 0 1 0 0 3

JAN 2022 0 1 0 3 0 0 4

FEB 2022 0 1 0 2 0 0 3

MAR2022 0 0 0 2 0 0 2

APR2022 0 0 0 2 0 1 3

MAY2022 0 3 0 1 0 0 4
JUN 2022

TOTAL 0 14 0 16 2 1 33

RELOCATION PAYMENT SUMMARY FOR ACTIVE CASES

AVERAGE AMOUNT TIME IN THE UNIT

0 to 5 years           5+ to 10 years       10+ years



5 

Buyout Agreement Submissions

ACTIVE DEFICIENT
TENANT 

CHOSE TO 
RESCIND

TOTAL

JUL 2021 3 0 0 3

AUG 2021 2 0 0 2

SEP 2021 1 1 0 2

OCT 2021 0 0 0 0

NOV 2021 1 0 0 1

DEC 2021 0 0 0 0

JAN 2022 2 0 0 2

FEB 2022 1 0 0 1

MAR 2022 2 1 0 3

APR 2022 2 0 0 2

MAY 2022 4 0 0 4
JUN 2022

TOTAL 18 2 0 20

BUYOUT AGREEMENT SUMMARY FOR ACTIVE CASES

AVERAGE AMOUNT TIME IN THE UNIT

0 to 5 years           5+ to 10 years       10+ years



6 

Monitoring of Unit Restrictions

CASES INITIATED ONGOING CASES

TOTAL UNITS 
MONITOREDOWNER 

MOVE-IN

WITHDRAWAL 
FROM RENTAL 

MARKET

OWNER 
MOVE-IN

WITHDRAWAL 
FROM RENTAL 

MARKET

JUL 2021 0 2 2 2 6

AUG 2021 0 6 0 1 7
SEP 2021 0 3 0 4 7
OCT 2021 2 4 0 1 7
NOV 2021 0 1 2 2 5
DEC 2021 1 0 0 0 1
JAN 2022 0 4 2 2 8
FEB 2022 0 0 1 3 4
MAR 2022 0 1 1 2 4
APR 2022 2 3 0 1 6

MAY 2022 0 3 0 8 11
JUN 2022

Capital Improvement Plans



7 

Rent Registry

RENT REGISTRY SUBMISSIONS PROCESSED

MONTH
LATE 

REGISTRATION

UPDATED 
UNIT 

INFORMATION
SHOWING AN 
INVALID RENT 

INCREASE

REQUEST 
TO 

EXEMPT 
UNIT FROM 

ANNUAL 
FEE

DOCUMENTATION 
SHOWING 

PROPERTY IS 
EXEMPT FROM 
REGULATION

CHANGE IN 
OWNERSHIP

TOTAL

JUL 2021 98 28 36 11 13 186
AUG 2021 8 2 21 5 20 56
SEP 2021 8 3 40 60 21 132
OCT 2021 19 4 11 11 14 59
NOV 2021 72 30 37 34 28 201
DEC 2021 72 17 13 6 35 143
JAN 2022 25 159 17 18 7 226
FEB 2022 36 153 17 10 12 228
MAR 2022 15 90 17 17 24 163
APR 2022 21 97 19 6 11 154

MAY 2022 4 47 25 6 8 90
JUN 2022

TOTAL 378 630 253 184 193 1,638

Other Appeals



   

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners
 

From: Tonya Schuler-Cummins, Principal Management Analyst 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Moving To Work Presentation. 

BACKGROUND
On March 23, 2022, the Housing Authority of the City of Alameda (AHA) received its 
executed Annual Contributions Contract (ACC) from the Department of Housing and 
Urban Development (HUD) designating AHA as a Moving To Work (MTW) agency.  

DISCUSSION
The AHA will have to prepare its software systems, train staff, and revise its policies to 
implement MTW activities after receiving HUD approval.  The attached presenation 
includes MTW activities being considered for submission to HUD for approval along with 
a tentative timeline for MTW implementation.   

FISCAL IMPACT
No fiscal impact.  For information only.  

CEQA
Not applicable.   

RECOMMENDATION
Accept the presentation.  

ATTACHMENTS
1. 10.A. Moving To Work Presentation June 2022

Respectfully submitted,



Tonya Schuler-Cummins, Principal Management Analyst







































   

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners
 

From: Vanessa Cooper, Executive Director 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Establish a Nominating Ad Hoc Committee for the Appointment of 
the Chair and Vice Chair of the Board of Commissioners for the 
Period of July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2023. 

BACKGROUND
Section 4 of the Rules and Procedures of the Housing Authority states: “The Chair and 
Vice Chair shall be elected by the Board of Commissioners from its membership at the 
first meeting after July 1 of each year when the Commission is fully constituted.” 

DISCUSSION
The Board is asked to appoint up to three Board members to constitute the ad hoc 
committee. This committee will report back to the Executive Director with 
recommendations no later than two weeks before the first meeting after July 1, 2022. 

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A 

CEQA
N/A 

RECOMMENDATION
Establish a nominating ad hoc committee for the appointment of the Chair and Vice 
Chair of the Board of Commissioners for the period July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2023. 

ATTACHMENTS
None 

Respectfully submitted,



Vanessa Cooper, Executive Director



   

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners
 

From: Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing Development 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Approve Amended and Restated Island City Development (ICD) 
Bylaws and Accept Names for Appointee to the ICD Board. 

BACKGROUND
Island City Development (ICD) is a non-profit public benefit corporation affiliated with 
the Housing Authority of the City of Alameda. The Corporation’s sole activity is to 
benefit and support the mission of the Housing Authority and the City of Alameda 
(Housing Authority). ICD achieves its charitable purposes by developing housing for 
low-income households.

ICD was incorporated in 2014 to increase the role that the Housing Authority plays in 
affordable housing development in the City of Alameda. The ICD Board of Directors is 
made up of the Housing Authority Executive Director, a current Housing Authority 
Commissioner, and a current or past employee of the Housing Authority. 

DISCUSSION
As the development arm of the Housing Authority, ICD is frequently the applicant, or 
sponsor on applications for public and private sources of funds. In a recent application 
to the City of Alameda for HOME/CDBG funds, staff noted a requirement that the Board 
of Directors of the nonprofit sponsor meet at least quarterly.  Currently, the ICD bylaws 
call for meetings at least twice a year (although in the past few years it has met 
significantly more often).  To conform with the funding requirement, staff proposes that 
ICD amend and restate its bylaws to allow for a requirement to meet quarterly.

A related change is to update the timing of the Annual report. As currently written, it 
should be provided at the first regular meeting of the fiscal year. The move to quarterly 
meetings adds to the regular meeting schedule. The ICD audit is typically approved in 
November, so the annual report should be provided within 12 months of the fiscal year 
end.  This change conforms to current practice.

A redlined version of the proposed amended bylaws is included for review. The ICD 
Board will ratify the proposed changes to the bylaws to be effective after receipt of 



written approval from the Housing Authority Board of Commissioners via approved 
minutes.  The Board is also asked to propose names for the Board appointee to start on 
the ICD Board effective July 1, 2022.  

FISCAL IMPACT
None. 

CEQA
Not applicable. 

RECOMMENDATION
Approve Amended and Restated ICD Bylaws. 

ATTACHMENTS
1. Attach 1 Draft ICD Amended and Restated Bylaws

Respectfully submitted,

Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing Development



DRAFT 
 

1 
 

Formatted: Right

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Formatted: Right:  0.72"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Right:  0.72"



DRAFT 
 

2 
 

Formatted: Right

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

(a)

 

(b)

 

(c)

 



DRAFT 
 

3 
 

Formatted: Right

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 



DRAFT 
 

4 
 

Formatted: Right

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



DRAFT 
 

5 
 

Formatted: Right

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

(d)
 

 
(e)

 
 

(f)  
 

 



DRAFT 
 

6 
 

Formatted: Right

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 



DRAFT 
 

7 
 

Formatted: Right

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  



DRAFT 
 

8 
 

Formatted: Right

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 



DRAFT 
 

9 
 

Formatted: Right

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 



DRAFT 
 

10 
 

Formatted: Right

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

(a)
 

 
 

 
 
 



DRAFT 
 

11 
 

Formatted: Right

 
 

 
(g)

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  



DRAFT 
 

12 
 

Formatted: Right

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

(1)  
 

 
(2)  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
       
 
      cretary 



   

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners
 

From: Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing Development 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Authorize the Executive Director to Negotiate and Execute a 
Purchase and Sale Agreement for 1628 Webster Street. 

BACKGROUND
In fall 2020, AHA was approached by the owner of the Hawthorn Suites on Webster 
Street, with an opportunity to convert the hotel to residential use.  In December 2020, 
staff received permission from the Board to explore this site as either permanent 
supportive housing or a senior development.  The Board and staff have considered 
options to purchase and convert this property as an adaptive reuse site.  At this time, 
new funding programs from the State of California mean that the property is taking on 
new feasibility. 

DISCUSSION
The purchase and sale agreement under consideration provides a price, terms, and 
conditions that are acceptable to the staff ot the Housing Authority, in terms of financial 
feasibility with the affordable housing programs from the State of California and other 
long-term investments made by the Housing Authority. The most impactful term is the 
contingency of the sale on receipt of these State program funds to allow the project to 
move forward.  If the funds are not awarded, the Housing Authority can choose not to 
proceed with the purchase.

Please see the attached draft Purchase and Sale Agreement. 

FISCAL IMPACT
Feasibility studies totaling no more than $70,000 have or will be performed to assure 
that the project is feasible.  In addition, a $25,000 refundable deposit will be required to 
open escrow.  If the project receives its additional State funding, a additional deposit of 
$200,000 will be required in spring of 2023.  The purchase will be made with a 
combination of state, private, and Housing Authority funds as contemplated in the 
financials presented to the Board in closed session. 



CEQA
Not applicable. 

RECOMMENDATION
Authorize the Executive Director to negotiate and execute a Purchase and Sale 
Agreement for 1628 Webster Street. 

ATTACHMENTS
1. Att 1 Draft Webster_Agreement of Sale and Purchase_v2

Respectfully submitted,

Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing Development



DRAFT 

1 
 

ATTACHMENT 1: DRAFT PSA 

AGREEMENT OF SALE AND PURCHASE 

(1628 WEBSTER STREET) 

THIS AGREEMENT OF SALE AND PURCHASE Agreement
for all purposes as of [June ____, 2022] Effective Date ALAMEDA 
HOSPITALITY LLC, a [California limited liability company] Seller HOUSING 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF ALAMEDA, a California body corporate and politic (together with its 

Buyer  

ARTICLE I 
 

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Definitions.  The parties hereby agree that the following terms shall have 
the meanings hereinafter set forth, such definitions to be applicable equally to the singular and 
plural forms, and to the masculine and feminine forms, of such terms: 

Affiliate  any person or entity that directly, or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with Buyer or Seller, as the 

ct or indirect, 
of the power to direct or cause the direction of the day-to-day management of a person, whether 
through the ownership of voting securities, by contract, by serving in the capacity of general 
partner or managing member or otherwise, and the 
meanings correlative to the foregoing. 

Agreement
amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time in writing by the parties hereto. 

Ancillary Agreements or agreements 
executed and delivered pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

Approval Notice  

Assignment and Assumption of Contracts ave the meaning ascribed in 
Section 9.3(a)(iii). 

 Assumed Contracts
the Due Diligence Period to be assumed by Buyer, and (ii) those contracts entered into by Seller 
after the Effective Date and prior to the Closing Date in accordance with Section 8.3.  

Bill of Sale  

Business Day
which national banks in Alameda, California are not open for business. 



DRAFT 

2 
 

Buyer Diligence Materials
 

City mean the City of Alameda. 

 Closing  the meaning ascribed in Section 9.2. 

Closing Date
than the date set forth in Section 9.2. 

Closing Statement  

Consenting Parties/Party  

Contracts
Buyer as part of the Due Diligence Items, and (ii) all other service contracts entered into by Seller 
after the Effective Date with respect to the Property in accordance with Section 8.3. 

 Deposit  

Document Delivery Date five (5) days following the 
Effective Date or (b) the date on which Seller has made available to Buyer the Due Diligence 
Items.  

Due Diligence
of this Agreement. 

Due Diligence Items s, documents and deliveries contemplated in 
Section 3.2(a). 

Due Diligence Period
Agreement. 

Environmental Laws
statutes, directives, binding written interpretations, binding written policies, ordinances and 
regulations issued by any Governmental Entity and in effect as of the date of this Agreement with 
respect to or which otherwise pertain to or affect the Real Property or the Improvements, or any 
portion thereof, the use, ownership, occupancy or operation of the Real Property or the 
Improvements, or any portion thereof, or Buyer, and as the same have been amended, modified or 
supplemented from time to time prior to the date of this Agreement, including but not limited to 
the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (42 U.S.C. 
§ 9601 et seq.), the Hazardous Substances Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. § 1802 et seq.), the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.), the Water Pollution Control 
Act (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), the Safe Drinking Water Act (42 U.S.C. § 300f et seq.), the Clean 
Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.), the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.), the 
Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.), the Emergency Planning and Community 
Right-to-Know Act of 1986 (42 U.S.C. § 11001 et seq.), the Radon and Indoor Air Quality 
Research Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401 note, et seq.), the Superfund Amendment Reauthorization Act of 



DRAFT 

3 
 

1986 (42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.), comparable state and local laws, and any and all rules and 
regulations which have become effective prior to the date of this Agreement under any and all of 
the aforementioned laws. 

Escrow Agent hall mean [TBD by Buyer], in its capacity as escrow agent hereunder.  

Excluded Information
are subject to attorney/client, work product or similar privilege, (B) which is confidential or 
propri
internal correspondence.  

Express Seller Representations 7.2(g). 

 Fixtures  at and affixed to any of the 
Improvements as of the Closing Date so as to become real property, but specifically excluding 
fixtures owned by the Tenants under the applicable Leases, if any. 

Governmental Entity - governmental bodies 
or agencies having jurisdiction over Seller, the Property or any portion thereof. 

Grant Deed  9.3(a)(i). 

 Hazardous Materials
substances, materials or wastes (including petroleum, mold, chlorinated solvents, petroleum by-

PCBs
PCB-containing equipment, radioactive elements, infectious agents, and urea formaldehyde), as 
such terms are used in any Environmental Laws (excluding the following which are used in the 
ordinary operation and maintenance of the Property: (i) ordinary and customary cleaning supplies 
and other materials in reasonable quantities, to the extent in closed containers, and  (ii) petroleum, 
gasoline and other fuel and lubricants in reasonable quantities and used in the operation of 
equipment, machinery and vehicles). 

 Improvements and include certain buildings and other improvements which 
comprise an extended stay hotel and related retail facilities located at 1628 Webster Street, 
Alameda, CA 94501.  

Independent Consideration  

 Land  shall mean the land described on Exhibit A, including but not limited to all of the 
appurtenant easements, licenses, navigation and water use rights, permits, development rights, 
easements, regulatory approvals, riparian rights, rights under restrictive covenants and any other 
rights and interests appurtenant thereto.  

Leases
agreements (together with any amendments, supplements and modifications thereto) for the use, 
possession, or occupancy of any portions of the Real Property as of the Closing Date, which leases 
include residential leases and any tenant deposits, delivered in connection with the foregoing.  



DRAFT 

4 
 

Licensee Parties nd the authorized 
agents, contractors, consultants, accountants, advisors, attorneys and representatives of Buyer and 
its lenders and investors who shall inspect, investigate, test or evaluate the Property on behalf of 
Buyer in accordance with this Agreement. 

Licenses and Permits
permits, approvals, development agreements, disposition and development agreements, 
certificates of occupancy, dedications, subdivision maps and entitlements now or hereafter issued, 
approved or granted by any Governmental Entity in connection with the Property, together with 
all renewals and modifications thereof.  

 Mandatory Cure Items  ad valorem real 
property taxes and real property assessments, and (B) any monetary liens created by Seller.  

New Leases New Lease
into between the Effective Date and the Closing Date in accordance with Section 8.1. 

OFAC  

OFAC List
is administered or maintained by OFAC, including: (i) Section 1(b), (c) or (d) of Executive Order 
No. 13224 (September 23, 2001) issued by the President of the United States (Executive Order 
Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, 
or Support Terrorism), any related enabling legislation or any other similar executive orders, (ii) 
the List of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons maintained by OFAC), and/or on 
any other similar list maintained by OFAC pursuant to any authorizing statute, executive order or 
regulation, or (iii) 
31 C.F.R. Part 515. 

Permitted Exceptions
in the Title Commitment and Survey (other than (i) the Mandatory Cure Items, and (ii) those 
matters to which Buyer timely objects in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, provided 
they do not thereafter constitute Permitted Exceptions under Section 4.2 hereof), (b) the lien of 
taxes and assessments not yet due and payable (provided that the tax liens and special assessment 
liens shall be prorated as of the Closing Date and Seller shall be responsible for the portion 
attributable to the period prior to the Closing Date), (c) any exceptions caused by, through or at 
the direction of Buyer, its Affiliates, agents, representatives or employees, and (d) the rights of 
those Tenants under the Leases described in the Rent Schedule approved by Buyer prior to the 
expiration of the Due Diligence Period and any New Leases.  

Person
limited liability partnership, Governmental Entity, trust or other entity. 

Personal Property he 
tangible personal property, which is located at and used primarily in connection with any of the 
Property, to the extent transferable without the requirement of consent of any third party.  



DRAFT 

5 
 

Pre-Effective Date Leases Pre-Effective Date Lease shall mean, collectively, or 
singularly, any Lease in effect as of the Effective Date. 

Property
 Contracts.  

Purchase Price  

Real Property  

Rent Schedule given to such term on Exhibit B. 

Rents mean and include fixed monthly rentals, additional rentals, utility charges 
storage rentals, locker rentals, and other sums and charges payable by Tenants under the Leases or 
from other occupants or users of the Property. 

Seller Related Party er and its Affiliates, officers, 
directors, shareholders, beneficiaries, members, partners, agents and employees, and each of their 
respective heirs, successors, personal representatives and assigns, as applicable.  

Tax Affidavits ascribed in Section 9.3(a)(vii). 

Tenant Tenants
entitled to possession of any portion of the Real Property pursuant to the Leases. 

Tenant Deposits e month in advance, and security 
deposits (whether cash or non-cash) paid or deposited by the Tenants pursuant to the Leases 
(together with any accrued interest). 

Tenant Notice Letter ii). 

Title Commitment  

Title Company [TBD by Buyer], in its capacity as issuer of the Title Policy. 

Title Matters  

Title Objections ascribed in Section 4.2. 

Title Policy  

Section 1.2 Rules of Construction.  Article and section captions used in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of this Agreement. All 
refer

reement as a whole and not to any 
particular article or section, unless specifically designated otherwise. The use of the term 

otherwise. No rules of construction against the drafter of this Agreement shall apply in any 



DRAFT

6

interpretation or enforcement of this Agreement, any documents or certificates executed pursuant 
hereto, or any provisions of any of the foregoing.

ARTICLE II

AGREEMENT OF SALE AND PURCHASE; PURCHASE PRICE

Section 2.1 Agreement of Sale and Purchase. Subject to the terms and conditions 
contained herein, Seller agrees to sell, transfer, assign and convey to Buyer, and Buyer agrees to 
purchase, accept and assume the Property.

Section 2.2 Purchase Price. Subject to the terms and conditions contained herein, upon 
Closing, the purchase price for the Property shall be  No/100 Dollars 
($ Purchase Price
available funds.
expenses hereunder, subject to closing adjustments, shall be deposited with the Escrow Agent on 
or before the Closing Date in accordance with this Agreement and paid to Seller at Closing.

Section 2.3 Deposit. Within three (3) Business Days of the Effective Date, Buyer shall 
deposit by Federal Reserve wire transfer of immediately available funds the sum of Twenty-Five 
Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($25,000.00) as an initial Initial Deposit
Escrow Agent whose address is as indicated in Section 11.3.  Additionally, if Buyer has not 
terminated this Agreement and has delivered the Approval Notice in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement, the Buyer shall deposit by Federal Reserve wire transfer of immediately available 
funds the sum of Two Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($200,000.00) on or before March 
1, 2023 Second Deposit and the Extension Deposit 
(if made) Deposit . The Initial Deposit shall be nonrefundable to Buyer

The Deposit shall be held and delivered by Escrow 
Agent in accordance with the provisions of Article 5. Interest earned on the Deposit while held by 
the Escrow Agent shall be considered part of the Deposit and shall be deemed to have been earned 
by and constitute income of Buyer. If the Closing occurs, the Deposit, including all interest, shall 
be applied against the Purchase Price on the Closing Date.

Section 2.4 Independent Consideration. Contemporaneously with the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement, Buyer has paid to Seller as further consideration for this Agreement, 
in cash, the sum of One Hundred and No/100 Dollars ($10 Independent 
Consideration posit and the Purchase Price and independent of any other 
consideration provided hereunder, which Independent Consideration is fully earned by Seller and 
is nonrefundable under any circumstances.

ARTICLE III

/CONSENTS

Section 3.1 . The due diligence period will 
expire at 5:00 p.m. Pacific Time on the date that is one hundred eighty (180) days following the 
Effective Date Due Diligence Period ; provided, however, 



DRAFT 

7 
 

Buyer shall have the option to extend the Due Diligence Period four (4) times, in increments of 
thirty (30) days each, up to a total of one hundred twenty (120) days, if (i) Buyer delivers an 
extension notice three (3) days prior to the scheduled expiration of the Due Diligence Period and 
(ii) deposits into Escrow an extension deposit in the amount of Ten Thousand and No/100 Dollars 
($10,000.00) for each such extension (each, an Extension Deposit , which Extension Deposit 
shall be credited toward the Purchase Price except as otherwise provided in this Agreement.   From 
and after the Effective Date, Buyer and the Licensee Parties may conduct examinations, 

Due Diligence ) of the Property, 
information regarding the Property and such documents applicable to the Property.  Except for any 
limitations as may be imposed by this Article III, Buyer may conduct such due diligence activities, 
inspections, and studies of the Property as it deems necessary or appropriate, and examine and 
investigate to its full satisfaction all facts, circumstances, and matters relating to the Property 
(including the physical condition and use, availability and adequacy of utilities, access, zoning, 
compliance with applicable laws, environmental conditions, engineering and structural matters), 
title and survey matters, and any other matters it deems necessary or appropriate for purposes of 
consummating this transaction.  The examinations, inspections, testing, studies and investigations 
conducted by Buyer shall be at  

Section 3.2 Delivery Period. 

(a) No later than three (3) days following the Effective Date, Seller shall deliver 
to Buyer or make available to Buyer for inspection at the Property, or on an electronic due diligence 
data site, (i) those items listed on Exhibit B hereto, and (ii) copies of any other documents and 
information related to the Property which Buyer or the Licensee Parties may reasonably request 
( Due Diligence Items   Seller shall also instruct Escrow Agent to cause to be prepared and 
delivered to Buyer all natural hazard disclosures regarding the Property required by law within the 
time periods so required, and all natural hazard disclosure reports delivered to Buyer shall be 
deemed to be included within the Due Diligence Items. 

(b) All documents, materials, and information are furnished to or made 
available to Buyer pursuant to this Section 3.2 for information purposes only and without any 
representation or warranty by Seller with respect thereto, express or implied, except as may 
otherwise be expressly set forth in Section 6.1 below and as limited by Section 6.2 below.  All 
documents, materials, and information furnished to or made available to Buyer pursuant to this 
Section 3.2 are expressly understood by Buyer to be subject to the confidentiality provisions of 
Section 11.11 below. 

Section 3.3 Site Visits.  Buyer and its Licensee Parties shall have reasonable access to 
the Property at agreed upon times between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Pacific Time on any Business 
Day, on not less than twenty-
telephonically or via electronic mail.  Seller shall in all events have the right to have a 
representative present during any visits to or inspections of the Property by Buyer or any Licensee 
Parties.  Buyer will conduct its Due Diligence in a manner which (a) is not unreasonably disruptive 
to Tenants or the normal operation of the Property, and (b) is in compliance with the Leases.  Buyer 
shall not contact any Tenants.  In the event Buyer desires to conduct any physically intrusive Due 
Diligence prior to the Closing, such as sampling of soils, other media, building materials, or the 
like, Buyer will identify in writing what procedures Buyer desires to perform and request S



DRAFT 

8 
 

express written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 
uch 

Due Diligence, comply with the agreed upon procedures and with any and all laws, ordinances, 
rules, and regulations applicable to the Property and will not engage in any activities which would 
violate any permit, license, or Environmental Law.  As a condition precedent to gaining access to 
the Property as set forth in this Section 3.3, Buyer Licensee Parties will maintain 
comprehensive general liability (occurrence) insurance covering any and all liability of Buyer and 

the Property in full force and effect, in an amount no less than One Million and No/100 Dollars 
($1,000,000.00) combined single limit for personal injury and property damage per occurrence, 
such policy(s) to be provided from an insurer reasonably acceptable to Seller, naming each Seller 
Related Party as an additional insured party.  Buyer shall (x) provide evidence to Seller so that 
Seller may verify such coverage prior to entry upon the Land or Improvements; (y) promptly pay 
when due the costs of all entry and inspections and examinations done with regard to the Property; 
and (z) restore the Land and Improvements substantially to the condition in which the same were 
found before any such entry upon the Property and inspection or examination was undertaken; 
provided Buyer shall have no obligation to remediate any pre-existing physical or environmental 
conditions.  

Section 3.4  Indemnity.  Buyer shall defend, indemnify, and 
hold harmless each Seller Related Party from and against all losses, costs, damages, claims, and 
liabilities (whether arising out of injury or death to persons or damage to the Property or otherwise) 
including, but not limited to, costs of remediation, restoration and other similar activities, 

the Property prior to the Closing; provided, however, that Buyer shall not have (a) any obligations 
under this Section 3.4 with respect to the mere discovery of adverse conditions relating to the 
Property or preexisting conditions of the Property discovered by Buyer or any Licensee Party in 
the course of any investigations permitted by this, or (b) any liability to a Seller Related Party 
under this Section 3.4 for damage or injury that is caused by the gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of such Seller Related Party.  

Section 3.5 Due Diligence Period.  Buyer may, as determined in its sole and absolute 
discretion for any reason or no reason whatsoever, terminate its obligations hereunder without 
further liability except for those obligations that survive termination as provided in Sections 9.6, 
and 11.11 by giving Seller and Escrow Agent written notice on or before the end of the Due 
Diligence Period.  If Buyer determines to proceed with the purchase of the Property, then Buyer 
shall, before the end of the Due Diligence Period, notify Seller and Escrow Agent in writing that 
Buyer has approved all of the matters described in Sections 3.1 and 3.2 Approval Notice .  
If before the end of the Due Diligence Period, Buyer fails to give Seller such written notice of its 
approval of the matters described in Sections 3.1 and 3.2, then Buyer shall be deemed to have 
terminated this Agreement without further liability except for those obligations that survive 
termination as provided in Sections 9.6, and 11.11.  If Buyer terminates (or is deemed to have 
terminated) this Agreement under this Section 3.5, the Deposit shall be immediately returned to 
Buyer, and Buyer shall promptly return the Due Diligence Items to Seller or destroy the same.  If 
Buyer approves the matters described in Sections 3.1 and 3.2 prior to the end of the Due Diligence 
Period, Buyer and the Licensee Parties may, after the expiration of the Due Diligence Period 



DRAFT 

9 
 

conduct such examinations, inspections, testing, studies or investigations regarding the Property 
(and Seller shall cooperate with Buyer and the Licensee Parties by promptly providing such 
information reasonably requested by any of them and access to the Property); provided, however, 
that the same shall (a) be subject to the terms and conditions of this Article III and (b) in no event 
give rise to any right in favor of Buyer to terminate the Agreement.  

ARTICLE IV 
 

TITLE AND SURVEY 

Section 4.1 Title to Real Property.  Seller shall order from the Title Company, for 
receipt no later than three (3) Business Days following the Effective Date, (a) a preliminary title 
report with respect to the Real Title Commitment
and (b) complete and legible copies of all recorded documents referred to on Schedule B of the 
Title Commitment as exceptions to coverage.   

Section 4.2 Certain Exceptions to Title.  With respect to any title matters (herein 
Title Matters

reflected in the Survey, Buyer shall have the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, to object in 
writing to such Title Matters at any time on or prior to the expiration of the Due Diligence Period.  
With respect to any new Title Matters (i.e., Title Matters not shown in the Title Commitment) 
shown in any updated title report or survey delivered after the expiration of the Due Diligence 
Period, Buyer shall have the right to object in writing to such new Title Matters at any time on or 
prior to the earlier of (i) five (5) Business Days after receipt by Buyer of an updated title report or 
survey, in writing, disclosing such new Title Matters, or (ii) two (2) Business Days prior to the 
Closing Date; provided, however, that Buyer shall have not less than two (2) Business Days from 
the date of receipt of such updated title report or survey, in writing, disclosing such Title Matters 
to object to such notice, and if necessary, the Closing Date shall be postponed to afford the Buyer 
such time to object.  If Buyer fails to object in a timely manner to the new Title Matters within 
such time period, such new Title Matters shall be deemed Permitted Exceptions.  Any Title Matters 
which are objected to by Buyer in a timely manner Title 
Objections  Seller may elect (but shall not be obligated) to remove or cause to be removed, at 
its expense, such Title Objection, and shall be entitled to a reasonable adjournment of the Closing 
(not to exceed fifteen (15) days) for the purpose of such removal, which removal will be deemed 
effected when such Title Matter no longer encumbers the Real Property of record; provided, 
however, that any such Title Matters shall be considered removed following written notice thereof 
to Buyer and on the date the Title Company irrevocably commits to issue the Title Policy without 
reference to the Title Matter that is the subject of such Title Objection.  Seller shall notify Buyer 
in writing no later than three (3) days 
whether Seller elects to remove the Title Objections set forth in each such notice (and if necessary, 
the Closing Date shall be postponed to allow Seller such time to so notify Buyer).  Except as 
provided below with respect to Mandatory Cure Items, if Seller is unable to remove any Title 
Objections prior to the Closing, or if Seller elects not to remove one or more Title Objections, 
Buyer may elect by written notice to Seller and Escrow Agent no later than two (2) days after the 
date on which Buyer is notified in writing that Seller is unable or unwilling to so remove such Title 
Objections (and if necessary, the Closing Date shall be postponed to afford Buyer such time to 
elect either of the following remedies), as its sole and exclusive remedy therefor, to either (a) 



DRAFT 

10 
 

terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to Seller and Escrow Agent, in which event the 
Deposit shall be returned to Buyer and, thereafter, the parties shall have no further rights or 
obligations hereunder except for those obligations which expressly survive the termination of this 
Agreement as set forth in Sections 9.6 and 11.11, or (b) waive such Title Objections, in which 
event the Title Matters that are the subject of such Title Objections shall be deemed additional 
Permitted Exceptions and the Closing shall occur as herein provided without any reduction of or 
credit against the Purchase Price.  If Buyer fails to give Seller and Escrow Agent such written 
notice as and when required hereunder, then Buyer shall be deemed to have elected to waive such 
Title Objections pursuant to subsection (b) of the preceding sentence and its right to terminate this 
Agreement with respect to such Title Objection pursuant to subsection (a) of the preceding 
sentence.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) in the event Seller agrees but subsequently fails to 
remove one or more Title Objections prior to the Closing, Buyer may elect by written notice to 
Seller and Escrow Agent no later than five (5) days after the date on which Buyer is notified in 
writing that Seller is no longer able or willing to so remove such Title Objections (and if necessary, 
the Closing Date shall be postponed to afford Buyer such time to elect either of the following 
remedies), as its sole and exclusive remedy therefor, to either (a) terminate this Agreement by 
giving written notice to Seller and Escrow Agent, in which event the Deposit shall be returned to 
Buyer, Buyer shall be entitled to a reimbursement by Seller of out of pocket expenses in an amount 
not to exceed One Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($100,000.00), and, thereafter, the 
parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder except for those obligations which 
expressly survive the termination of this Agreement as set forth in Sections 9.6 and 11.11, or (b) 
waive such Title Objections, in which event the Title Matters that are the subject of such Title 
Objections shall be deemed additional Permitted Exceptions and the Closing shall occur as herein 
provided without any reduction of or credit against the Purchase Price; and (ii) Seller shall be 
obligated at or prior to Closing to cause the Mandatory Cure Items to be paid, satisfied and released 
(as applicable). 

Section 4.3 Title Insurance.  At Closing, the Title Company shall issue to Buyer or be 
irrevocably committed to issue to Buyer (subject only to the payment of the premium therefor), at 
the expense of Seller, an ALTA , in the amount of the Purchase 
Price, insuring that title to the Real Property is vested in Buyer subject only to the Permitted 
Exceptions. Prior to Closing, Buyer may, at its option and additional expense, require that 
Title Policy be a 2006 ALTA extended coverage policy together with such endorsements as Buyer 

Title Policy  

ARTICLE V 
 

REMEDIES AND DEPOSIT INSTRUCTIONS 

Section 5.1 Seller Default.  If Seller defaults under the terms of this Agreement prior 
to the Closing, Buyer shall be entitled, as its sole and exclusive remedies, either (a) to terminate 
this Agreement, receive the return of the Deposit 
expenses in an amount not to exceed One Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($100,000.00), 
or (b) to enforce specific performance of this Agreement.  Buyer expressly waives its rights to seek 
any damages (including without limitation, compensatory, punitive, consequential or special 
damages) in the event of  Buyer shall be deemed to have elected to 
terminate this Agreement and receive a refund of the Deposit and reimbursement of out of pocket 



DRAFT 

11 
 

expenses if Buyer fails to file suit for specific performance against Seller in a court of competent 
jurisdiction on or before sixty (60) days following the date upon which Closing was scheduled to 
have occurred as provided herein. 

Section 5.2 FAILURE TO CONSUMMATE TRANSACTION; LIQUIDATED 
DAMAGES. 

(a)
PROCEED WITH THE PURCHASE OF THE PROPERTY PURSUANT TO SECTION 3.5 
HEREOF, IF THE SALE OF THE PROPERTY AS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER IS 
NOT CONSUMMATED DUE TO A DEFAULT UNDER THIS AGREEMENT ON THE 
PART OF BUYER, THEN SELLER SHALL RETAIN, AS ITS SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE 
REMEDY, THE DEPOSIT AS LIQUIDATED DAMAGES, WHICH RETENTION SHALL 
OPERATE TO TERMINATE THIS AGREEMENT AND RELEASE BUYER FROM ANY 
AND ALL LIABILITY HEREUNDER, EXCEPT 
OBLIGATIONS AS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 9.6 AND 11.11. THE PARTIES HAVE 
AGREED 
CONSUMMATE THE TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT IS 
NOT CONSUMMATED DUE TO A DEFAULT UNDER THIS AGREEMENT ON THE 
PART OF BUYER WOULD BE EXTREMELY DIFFICULT OR IMPRACTICABLE TO 
DETERMINE. AFTER NEGOTIATION, THE PARTIES HAVE AGREED THAT, 
CONSIDERING ALL THE CIRCUMSTANCES EXISTING ON THE DATE OF THIS 
AGREEMENT, THE AMOUNT OF THE DEPOSIT IS A REASONABLE ESTIMATE OF 
THE DAMAGES THAT SELLER WOULD INCUR IN SUCH EVENT. BY PLACING 
THEIR INITIALS BELOW, EACH PARTY SPECIFICALLY CONFIRMS THE 
ACCURACY OF THE STATEMENTS MADE ABOVE AND THE FACT THAT EACH 
PARTY WAS REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL WHO EXPLAINED, AT THE TIME THIS 
AGREEMENT WAS MADE, THE CONSEQUENCES OF THIS LIQUIDATED 
DAMAGES PROVISION. THE FOREGOING 
SURVIVING OBLIGATIONS UNDER SECTIONS 3.4, 9.6 AND 11.11. 

Initials: Seller _______  Buyer _______ 

Section 5.3 Deposit Instructions.  The Escrow Agent joins herein below to evidence 
its agreement to hold such funds in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  
Further, the following provisions shall control with respect to the rights, duties and liabilities of 
the Escrow Agent. 

(a) The Escrow Agent acts hereunder as a depository only and is not 
responsible or liable in any manner whatsoever for the (i) sufficiency, correctness, genuineness or 

notice which is received by the Escrow Agent, or (ii) identity or authority of any person executing 
such instruction notice or evidence. 

(b) The Escrow Agent shall have no responsibility hereunder except for the 
performance by it in good faith of the acts to be performed by it hereunder, and the Escrow Agent 
shall have no liability except for its own willful misconduct or negligence. 



DRAFT 

12 
 

(c) The Escrow Agent shall be reimbursed on an equal basis by Buyer and 
Seller for any reasonable expenses incurred by the Escrow Agent arising from a dispute with 
respect to the amount held in escrow, including the cost of any legal expenses and court costs 
incurred by the Escrow Agent, should the Escrow Agent deem it necessary to retain an attorney 
with respect to the disposition of the amount held in escrow. 

(d) In the event of a dispute between the parties hereto with respect to the 
disposition of the amount held in escrow, the Escrow Agent shall be entitled, at its own discretion, 
to deliver such amount to an appropriate court of law pending resolution of the dispute. 

(e) The Escrow Agent shall invest the amount in escrow in accounts which are 
federally insured or which invest solely in government securities and shall be applied in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Interest earned thereon shall be added to the funds 
deposited by Buyer. 

(f) For purposes of clarification, the Escrow Agent shall be differentiated from 

obligations under the Title Policy (including, without limitation, the assurances given by the Title 
Company that the Ancillary Agreements conveying title to Buyer were duly authorized, executed 
and delivered). 

Section 5.4 Designation of Reporting Person.  In order to assure compliance with the 
requirements of Section 6045 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (for purposes of 

Code
agree as follows: 

(a) Provided the Escrow Agent shall execute a statement in writing (in form 
and substance reasonably acceptable to the parties hereunder) pursuant to which it agrees to assume 
all responsibilities for information reporting required under Section 6045(e) of the Code, Seller 
and Buyer shall designate the Escrow Agent as the person to be responsible for all information 
reporting under Sect Reporting Person  If the Escrow Agent 
refuses to execute a statement pursuant to which it agrees to be the Reporting Person, Seller and 
Buyer shall agree to appoint another third party as the Reporting Person. 

(b) Seller and Buyer hereby agree: 

(i) to provide to the Reporting Person all information and certifications 
regarding such party, as reasonably requested by the Reporting Person or otherwise required to be 
provided by a party to the transaction described herein under Section 6045 of the Code; and 

(ii)
identification number and a statement (on Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 or an acceptable 
substitute form, or on any other form the applicable current or future Code sections and regulations 
might require and/or any form requested by the Reporting Person), signed under penalties of 
perjury, stating that the taxpayer identification number supplied by such party to the Reporting 
Person is correct. 



DRAFT 

13 
 

Each party hereto agrees to retain this Agreement for not less than four years from the end 
of the calendar year in which the Closing occurred, and to produce it to the Internal Revenue 
Service upon a valid request therefor. The provisions of this Section 5.4 shall survive the Closing. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER 

Section 6.1 Representations and Warranties of Seller.  Subject to the provisions of 
Section 6.2, Seller makes the following representations and as of the Effective Date and as of the 
date on which the Closing occurs: 

(a) Authority.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
or will be duly authorized by all necessary 

action on the part of Seller, and this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation 
 

(b) Bankruptcy.  Seller has not (i) commenced a voluntary case, or had entered 
against it a petition, for relief under any federal bankruptcy act or any similar petition, order or 
decree under any federal or state law or statute relative to bankruptcy, insolvency or other relief 
for debtors, (ii) caused, suffered or consented to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, 
administrator, conservator, liquidator or similar official in any federal, state or foreign judicial or 
non-judicial proceedings, to hold, administer and/or liquidate all or substantially all of its property, 
or (iii) made an assignment for the benefit of creditors.  

(c) Compliance.  Seller has not received any written notice of any uncured 
material violation of the laws, rules or ordinances applicable to the Property.  Except as set forth 
in the Due Diligence Items
from any governmental or public authority that the Property is in violation of any applicable fire, 
health, building, use, occupancy or zoning laws where such violation remains outstanding. Seller 
has not received any violation of any private declaration, covenant or restriction affecting the 
Property. 

(d) Condemnation.  Seller has not received any written condemnation notice 

no such action or similar proceeding is threatened in writing. 

(e) Consents.  No consent, waiver, approval or authorization is required from 
any person or entity (that has not already been obtained) in connection with the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement by Seller or the performance by Seller of the transactions contemplated 
hereby. 

(f) Employees.  Seller has not received any written notification from, or on 
behalf of, any employee that the Seller is in violation of any applicable employment laws where 
such violation remains outstanding, and no such claims exist or are pending against Seller.  

(g) Leases; Rent Schedule.  The Rent Schedule (as defined in Exhibit B) 
contains a list of all executed Leases relating to the Property as of the Effective Date and all 



DRAFT 

14 
 

amendments and modifications to such Leases.  All Tenant Deposits are accurately identified in 
the Rent Schedule and are held by Seller in cash, and no Tenant or any other party has any claim 
(other than for customary refund at the expiration of a Lease) to all or any part of any Tenant 
Deposit resulting from actions which occur prior to the Closing Date.  All material obligations of 
the lessor under the Leases required to be performed by the lessor on or before the date hereof 
have been performed and, no material event of default on the part of the lessor exists under any 
Lease.  There are no oral promises, understandings, agreements, or commitments between Seller 
and any tenant or other party for the use, occupancy, or possession of the Property; 

(h) Non-Contravention.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement by 
Seller and the consummation by Seller of the transactions contemplated hereby will not (i) violate 
any judgment, order, injunction, decree, regulation or ruling of any court or Governmental Entity 
by which Seller is bound or (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of, or constitute a default under the 
organizational documents of Seller, any note or other evidence of indebtedness, any mortgage, 
deed of trust or indenture or, any other material agreement or instrument to which Seller is a party 
or by which Seller may be bound. 

(i) Non-Foreign Entity

the regulations promulgated thereunder. 

(j) OFAC.  Neither:  (i) Seller, any Affiliate of Seller nor any Person controlled 

indirect beneficial interest (other than with respect to an interest in a publicly traded entity) in 
Seller; nor (iv) any Person for whom Seller is acting as agent or nominee in connection with this 
investment, is a country, territory, Person, organization, or entity named on an OFAC List, nor is 
a prohibited country, territory, Person, organization, or entity under any economic sanctions 
program administered or maintained by OFAC. 

(k) Status.  Seller is a limited liability company duly organized or formed, 
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of [California]. 

(l) Litigation.  There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation 
pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened by or before any court or governmental authority 
(a) against or affecting the Property or Seller or arising out of the development, construction, 
financing, operation, maintenance or management of the Property or (b) that would prevent or 
hinder the performance by Seller of its obligations under this Agreement or the completion of the 
Transaction as contemplated by this Agreement;  

(m) Options.  Seller has not granted any option or right of first refusal to any 
party to acquire any interest in the Property that remains outstanding. 

(n) No Liens.  There will be no outstanding written or oral contracts made by 
Seller to construct any improvements to the Property. 



DRAFT 

15 
 

(o) No Defaults.  Seller has not received any written notice of any material 
default by Seller under any of the Assumed Contracts that will not be terminated on the Closing 
Date. 

(p) No Hazardous Materials.  To actual knowledge:  
(a) there are no underground storage tanks on the Property; (b) no underground storage tanks have 

 the 
Property is free of asbestos and asbestos-containing materials; (d) Seller has not caused or 
permitted to be stored, disposed of, transferred, produced, or processed on the Property any 
Hazardous Substances, except in compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws or 
regulations; (e) no release of any Hazardous Substances on or off-site of the Property which might 
affect the Property or for which Buyer may be liable has occurred prior to the Closing Date hereof; 
(f) Seller is not aware of any enforcement, cleanup, removal or other governmental or regulatory 
actions being instituted, contemplated or threatened against it or the Property, or any neighboring 
property; (g) no claims have been made by any third party or other person with respect the Property 
relating to damage, contribution, cost recovery, compensation, loss, or injury resulting from 
Hazardous Substances; and (h) there are no substances or conditions on the Property which would 
support a claim or cause of action under any Environmental Law. For purposes of this Agreement, 

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended 
CERCLA

RCRA s, toxic 
waste, toxic materials, or toxic substances as defined in state or federal statutes or regulations; 
asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls; radioactive materials; chemicals known 
to cause cancer or reproductive toxicity; petroleum products, distillates or fractions; any substance 
the presence of which is prohibited by statute or regulation; and any substance for which any statute 
or regulation requires a permit or special handling in its use, collection, storage, treatment or 
disposal (excluding the following which are used in the ordinary operation and maintenance of the 
Property: (i) ordinary and customary cleaning supplies and other materials in reasonable quantities, 
to the extent in closed containers, and  (ii) petroleum, gasoline and other fuel and lubricants in 
reasonable quantities and used in the operation of equipment, machinery and vehicles). 

(q) Due Diligence Items.  Seller has no actual knowledge of any material 
inaccuracy or incompleteness with respect to all leases, lease correspondence, rent rolls, reports, 
surveys, studies, and books and records made available to Buyer as part of the Due Diligence Items 
pursuant to this Agreement, and Seller represents that all such materials have been assembled in 
the form maintained by Seller or its property manager in the ordinary course of its business. 

(r) 10 Year Hold. There has been at least ten (10) years between the date of 
this Agreement and the last time the building(s) in the Project was placed in service or the date of 
the most recent substantial rehabilitation within Section 42(d)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended. There will not be any change to the ownership of the Project prior to the 
Closing.  

Section 6.2 Limited Liability.  The representations and warranties of Seller set forth in 

this Agreement that survive Closing, will survive the Closing for a period of twelve (12) months 



DRAFT 

16 
 

(t Survival Period . Following the Closing, to preserve its claim under this Agreement with 
Alleged Breach  

Buyer shall give written notice to Seller of such Alleged Breach prior to the expiration of the 
Survival Period.  
representations, warranties and covenants herein if, prior to the Closing, Buyer had actual 
knowledge of such breach of representation, warranty or covenant of Seller herein (from whatever 

consummates the transaction contemplated by this Agreement without exercising its rights and 
remedies against Seller prior to Closing.  

Section 6.3 .  For purposes of this Agreement and any document 

or words of similar import are used, they shall be deemed to refer to facts within the actual 
knowledge of [Seller to provide] and the property manager for the Property Knowledgeable 
Person of investigation or inquiry whatsoever.  Buyer acknowledges that the 
individuals named in this Section 6.3 are named solely for the purpose of defining and narrowing 

eating 
any duties running from such individuals to Buyer.   

ARTICLE VII 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER 

Section 7.1 .  Buyer represents and warrants 
to Seller the following as of the Effective Date and as of the date on which the Closing occurs:  

(a) Authority.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
be duly authorized by all 

necessary action on the part of Buyer and this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding 

generally. 

(b) Bankruptcy.  Buyer has not (i) commenced a voluntary case, or had entered 
against it a petition, for relief under any federal bankruptcy act or any similar petition, order or 
decree under any federal or state law or statute relative to bankruptcy, insolvency or other relief 
for debtors, (ii) caused, suffered or consented to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, 
administrator, conservator, liquidator or similar official in any federal, state or foreign judicial or 
non-judicial proceeding, to hold, administer and/or liquidate all or substantially all of its property, 
or (iii) made an assignment for the benefit of creditors. 

(c) .  Buyer has not been 
denied participation in any governmental grant or program.   

(d) Consents.  No consent, waiver, approval or authorization is required from 
any person or entity (that has not already been obtained) in connection with the execution and 



DRAFT 

17 
 

delivery of this Agreement by Buyer or the performance by Buyer of the transactions contemplated 
hereby. 

(e) Non-Contravention.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement by 
Buyer and the consummation by Buyer of the transactions contemplated hereby will not (i) violate 
any judgment, order, injunction, decree, regulation or ruling of any court or Governmental Entity 
by whic
constitute a default under the organizational documents of Buyer, any note or other evidence of 
indebtedness, any mortgage, deed of trust or indenture, or any other material agreement or 
instrument to which Buyer is a party or by which it is bound. 

(f) OFAC.  Neither:  (i) Buyer, any Affiliate of Buyer nor any Person 
controlled by Buyer; nor (ii) to the actual knowledge of Buyer, any Person who owns a controlling 
interest in or otherwise controls Buyer; nor (iii) to the knowledge of Buyer, if Buyer is a privately 
held entity, any Person otherwise having a direct or indirect beneficial interest (other than with 
respect to an interest in a publicly traded entity) in Buyer; nor (iv) any Person for whom Buyer is 
acting as agent or nominee in connection with this investment, is a country, territory, Person, 
organization, or entity named on an OFAC List, nor is a prohibited country, territory, Person, 
organization, or entity under any economic sanctions program administered or maintained by 
OFAC.  

Section 7.2 .  Buyer has been given, or will have 
before the end of the Due Diligence Period, a full opportunity to inspect and investigate each and 
every aspect of the Property Buyer deems necessary and proper to evaluate the transactions 

without limitation: 

(a) All matters relating to title and the Property, together with all governmental 
and other legal requirements such as taxes, assessments, zoning, use permit requirements, and 
building codes; 

(b) The physical condition and aspects of the Property, including, without 
limitation, the interior, the exterior, the square footage within the improvements on the Real 
Property and within each tenant space therein, the structure, the paving, the utilities, and all other 
physical and functional aspects of the Property, including, without limitation, an examination for 
the presence or absence of Hazardous Materials, which shall be performed or arranged by Buyer 

 

(c) Any easements and/or access rights affecting the Property; 

(d) The Leases and all matters in connection therewith, including, without 
limitation, the ability of the Tenants to pay Rent; 

(e) The Contracts, the Licenses and Permits, and any other material documents 
or agreements affecting the Property; and 

(f) All other matters of material significance affecting the Property or delivered 
or made available to Buyer by Seller in accordance with Article 3 of this Agreement. 



DRAFT 

18 
 

(g) THE TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT 
HAS BEEN NEGOTIATED BETWEEN SELLER AND BUYER, THIS AGREEMENT 
REFLECTS THE MUTUAL AGREEMENT OF SELLER AND BUYER, AND BUYER 
HAS CONDUCTED OR WILL CONDUCT ITS OWN INDEPENDENT EXAMINATION 
OF THE PROPERTY. OTHER THAN ANY REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 
EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN SECTION 6.1 AND SECTION 9.6 OF THIS AGREEMENT 
AND IN THE ANCILLARY AGREEMENTS ( EXPRESS SELLER 
REPRESENTATIONS WILL NOT RELY 
UPON, EITHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY REPRESENTATION OR 

AND BUYER HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT NO SUCH REPRESENTATIONS 
HAVE BEEN MADE OTHER THAN THE EXPRESS SELLER REPRESENTATIONS, 
SELLER SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS, AND NEITHER IT NOR ANY OTHER PERSON 
IS MAKING, ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WHATSOEVER TO BUYER 
AND NO WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS OF ANY KIND OR CHARACTER, 
EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, ARE MADE BY SELLER OR RELIED UPON BY 
BUYER WITH RESPECT TO THE STATUS OF TITLE TO OR THE MAINTENANCE, 
REPAIR, CONDITION, DESIGN OR MARKETABILITY OF THE PROPERTY, OR ANY 
PORTION THEREOF, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO (A) ANY IMPLIED OR 
EXPRESS WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, (B) ANY IMPLIED OR EXPRESS 
WARRANTY OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, (C) ANY IMPLIED OR 
EXPRESS WARRANTY OF CONFORMITY TO MODELS OR SAMPLES OF 
MATERIALS, (D) ANY RIGHTS OF BUYER UNDER APPROPRIATE STATUTES TO 
CLAIM DIMINUTION OF CONSIDERATION, (E) ANY CLAIM BY BUYER FOR 
DAMAGES BECAUSE OF DEFECTS, WHETHER KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, NOW OR 
HEREAFTER EXISTING, WITH RESPECT TO THE IMPROVEMENTS OR THE 
PERSONAL PROPERTY, (F) THE FINANCIAL CONDITION OR PROSPECTS OF THE 
PROPERTY AND (G) THE COMPLIANCE OR LACK THEREOF OF THE PROPERTY 
OR ANY PORTION THEREOF WITH GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS, IT BEING 
THE EXPRESS INTENTION OF SELLER AND BUYER THAT, EXCEPT AS 
EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, THE PROPERTY WILL BE 
CONVEYED AND TRANSFERRED TO BUYER IN ITS PRESENT CONDITION AND 
STATE OF REPAIR,   
NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION IN THIS AGREEMENT, BUYER IS 
NOT ASSUMING AND SELLER SHALL REMAIN LIABLE FOR ANY AND ALL 
PROBLEMS, CONDITIONS, LOSSES, COSTS, DAMAGES, CLAIMS, LIABILITIES, 
EXPENSES, DEMANDS OR OBLIGATIONS OF ANY KIND OR NATURE 
WHATSOEVER (A) ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY CLAIMS 
RESULTING FROM ANY DAMAGES THAT OCCURRED DURING THE TIME THAT 
SELLER OWNED FEE TITLE TO THE PROPERTY, OR (B) ACCRUED DURING THE 
TIME THAT SELLER OWNED FEE TITLE TO THE PROPERTY FOR WHICH 
SELLER REMAINS LIABLE POST-CLOSING UNDER APPLICABLE LAW. 

  

ARTICLE VIII 
 



DRAFT 

19 
 

LEASES; MAINTENANCE OF PROPERTY; 
CERTAIN OTHER COVENANTS OF SELLER  

From the date hereof until the Closing, and except as otherwise consented to or approved 
by Buyer, Seller covenants and agrees with Buyer as follows: 

Section 8.1 New Leases.  Prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall be permitted to enter 
into New Leases not exceeding Twenty-Eight (28) days for residential units in the ordinary course 
of business using Seller reviewed and approved by Buyer during the Due 
Diligence Period , and modify Pre-Effective Date 
Leases, in the ordinary course of business . Prior to the Closing 
Date, Seller shall not enter into any commercial lease which is not terminable upon thirty (30) day 

 

Section 8.2 Lease Enforcement.  Prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall have the right, 
but not the obligation, to enforce the rights and remedies of the landlord under any Lease, by 
summary proceedings or otherwise (including, without limitation, the right to remove any Tenant), 
and to apply, in the ordinary course of business and in accordance with Sel
practices and in the ordinary course of business, all or any portion of any Tenant Deposits then 
held by Seller toward any loss or damage incurred by Seller by reason of any defaults by Tenants, 
and the exercise of any such rights or remedies shall not affect the obligations of Buyer under this 
Agreement in any manner or entitle Buyer to a reduction in, or credit or allowance against, the 
Purchase Price or give rise to any other claim on the part of Buyer. Seller shall provide Buyer with 
written notice of any such actions. 

Section 8.3 Certain Interim Operating Covenants.  Seller covenants to Buyer that it 
will, (a) from the Effective Date until Closing:  (A) continue to operate, manage and maintain the 
Improvements in the ordinary course of its business and substantially in accordance with present 
practice, subject to ordinary wear and tear; and (B) maintain insurance on the Property (including, 
without limitation, fire and extended coverage insurance) which is at least equivalent in all material 
respects to the insurance policies covering the Land and the Improvements as of the Effective 

written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, not enter into any new contract 
with respect to the Property or renew, extend, modify or replace any of the Contracts unless such 

consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, cancel or amend any Assumed 
Contract except for a cancellation in the event of a default by a service provider; and (C) not (I) 
sell, mortgage, pledge or otherwise transfer or dispose of all or any part of the Property or any 
interest therein (other than in connection with routine replacement of personal property in the 
ordinary course of business with personal property of substantially the same or greater value), or 
(II) enter into any agreement with any or market to a third party to sell all or any portion of the 
Property.  In addition, Seller shall terminate any management agreement with the existing property 
manager and other Contracts which are not Assumed Contracts effective as of the Closing Date. 

Section 8.4 Property to be Delivered Vacant.  As of the Closing Date, except for the 
two (2) retail leases reviewed and approved by Buyer prior to the end of the Due Diligence Period, 



DRAFT 

20 
 

the Property will be vacant and none of the Property, including any land or buildings, will be 
occupied by any person or entity, or encumbered by any lease or rental agreement. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

CLOSING AND CONDITIONS 

Section 9.1 Escrow Instructions.  Upon execution of this Agreement, the parties hereto 
shall deposit an executed counterpart of this Agreement with the Escrow Agent, and this 
Agreement shall serve as escrow instructions to the Escrow Agent. Seller and Buyer agree to 
execute such reasonable additional and supplementary escrow instructions as may be appropriate 
to enable the Escrow Agent to comply with the terms of this Agreement; provided, however, that 
in the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and any supplementary 
escrow instructions, the terms of this Agreement shall control. 

Section 9.2 Closing.  The consummation of the purchase and sale of the Property 
h Closing on any date on or between June 19, 2023 and July 1, 2023, 
as mutually determined by Buyer and Seller. The Closing shall be held and delivery of all items to 
be made at the Closing under the terms of this Agreement shall be made through escrow at Escrow 

  So long as the conditions precedent to the Closing as set forth herein have been 
satisfied or waived and Escrow Agent holds the instruments and funds accruing to Buyer and Seller 
as set forth herein, on the Closing Date, Escrow Agent shall be instructed (A) to record the Grant 
Deed with the Alameda , (B) to pay to Seller or to those parties approved 
by Seller, by Federal Reserve wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account 
designated by Seller, the Purchase Price (subject to adjustments described in this Agreement), less 
any costs or other amounts to be paid by Seller at Closing pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, 
(C) to pay all appropriate payees the other costs and amounts to be paid by Buyer and Seller at 
Closing pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, (D) to deliver an original Title Policy to Buyer, 
and (E) to deliver to Seller and Buyer, a fully-executed original of each Ancillary Agreement.  
Buyer shall be entitled to possession of the Property on the Closing Date, subject to the rights of 
the Tenants identified in the Rent Schedule in possession under written Leases. 

Section 9.3 . 

(a) At least one (1) Business Day prior to Closing, Seller shall deposit into 
escrow with Escrow Agent (or otherwise deliver as expressly provided herein below) the following 
items: 

(i) One (1) duly executed and acknowledged original Grant Deed (the 
Grant Deed , substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C; 

(ii) One (1) duly executed original of a Bill of Sale for the Property (the 
Bill of Sale , substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D; 

(iii) Two (2) duly executed counterparts of an Assignment and 
Assumption of Contracts, Warranties, Guaranties and Other Intangible Property Assignment 
and Assumption of Contracts  for the Property, substantially in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit E; 



DRAFT 

21 
 

(iv) [reserved]; 

(v) An affidavit, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F, 
pursuant to Section l445(b)(2) of the Code, and on which Buyer is entitled to rely, that each Seller 

certificates required by the State of California in respect of such matters (such as the Form 593 
C)(together with the document in subsection (xi Tax Affidavits  

(vi) A form notice to Tenants of the Property, substantially in the form 
attached hereto as Exhibit G, that shall disclose that the Property has been sold to Buyer, that 
Buyer has received any Tenant Deposit and assumed liability therefor, and that, after the Closing, 

Tenant Notice Letter  

(vii)
control and relating to the Property (other than Excluded Information), it being understood that 
location of any of the items referred to in this subsection (vii) at the Property or with the Property 
Manager on the Closing Date shall be deemed to be delivery to Buyer; 

(viii)  in customary form to the Title Company; 

(ix) Such other documents as may be reasonably required by the Title 
Company or as may be agreed upon by Seller and Buyer to consummate the purchase of the 
Property as contemplated by this Agreement; 

(x) The duly executed Closing Statement; and 

(xi) Documentation to establish to Escrow Agent

required to be delivered by Seller pursuant to this Agreement.  

(b) The obligation of Seller to consummate the transaction hereunder shall be 
subject to the fulfillment on or before the Closing Date of all of the following conditions, any or 
all of which may be waived by Seller in its sole discretion: 

(i) Escrow Agent shall have received (x) the Deposit, (y) the balance of 
the Purchase Price (i.e., the Purchase Price less the Deposit), as adjusted pursuant to, and payable 
in the manner provided for in, this Agreement, and (z) Buyer shall have provided written authority 
to Escrow Agent to release such amount to Seller in accordance with the Closing Statement when 
Escrow Agent is committed to satisfy its other obligations to Buyer. 

(ii) Buyer shall have delivered to Escrow Agent all of the items required 
of Buyer pursuant to Section 9.4, and shall have performed all its other obligations under this 
Agreement in all material respects. 

(iii) Each of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 7.1 
shall be accurate in all material respects at and as of the Closing. 

(iv) [Reserved.] 



DRAFT 

22 
 

Section 9.4 . 

(a) At least one (1) Business Day prior to Closing, Buyer shall deposit into 
escrow with Escrow Agent the following items:  

(i) The balance of the Purchase Price (i.e., the Purchase Price less the 
Deposit), as adjusted pursuant to this Agreement, and such additional funds as are necessary to 
close this transaction; 

(ii) Two (2) duly executed counterparts of the Assignment and 
Assumption of Contracts; 

(iii) A copy of the duly executed counterpart of the Tenant Notice Letter;  

(iv) Such other documents as may be reasonably required by the Title 
Company or as may be agreed upon by Seller and Buyer to consummate the purchase of the 
Property as contemplated by this Agreement; 

(v) Documentation to establish to Escrow Agent

documents required to be delivered by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement (including the 
organizational documents of Buyer, as they may have been amended from time to time, resolutions 
of Buyer and incumbency certificates of Buyer); and 

(vi) The duly executed Closing Statement. 

(b) The obligation of Buyer to consummate the transaction hereunder shall be 
subject to the fulfillment on or before the Closing Date of all of the following conditions, any or 
all of which may be waived by Buyer in its sole discretion: 

(i) Seller shall have delivered to Escrow Agent all of the items required 
of Seller pursuant to Section 9.3, and shall have performed all  other obligations under this 
Agreement in all material respects. 

(ii) Each of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 6.1 
shall be accurate in all material respects at and as of the Closing. 

(iii) The Title Company shall be irrevocably committed (subject only to 
the payment of the premium therefor) to issue the Title Policy.  

(iv) proceeds of an award of State of 
California affordable housing funds, as set forth in Section 10. 

(c) Consequences of Failure of Condition. If any condition set forth in Section 
9.3(b) or Section 9.4(b) is not satisfied or waived on or prior to the Closing Date, then the party to 
this Agreement whose obligations are conditioned upon the satisfaction of such condition, may (a) 
if such failure of condition constitutes a default under this Agreement, pursue its remedies under 
Section 5.1 or 5.2 of this Agreement, or (b) if such failure of condition does not constitute a default 



DRAFT 

23 
 

under this Agreement, terminate this Agreement by written notice delivered at or prior to the 
scheduled Closing Date. In the event of termination of this Agreement pursuant to clause (b) of 
this paragraph: (x) the Deposit shall be promptly returned to Buyer, and (y) except with respect to 
the obligations and indemnities set forth in this Agreement that survive termination, neither party 
shall have any further liability or obligation to the other under this Agreement. 

Section 9.5 Prorations and Closing Costs. 

(a) Seller and Buyer agree to adjust, as of 11:59 p.m. Pacific Time on the day 
Proration Items

personal property taxes and assessments (subject to the terms of Section 9.5(c) below), utility bills 
(except as hereinafter provided), and collected Rents and other income from the Property (subject 
to the terms of Section 9.5(b) below).  Seller will be charged and credited for the amounts of all of 
the Proration Items relating to the period up to and through the day prior to the Closing Date, and 
Buyer will be charged and credited for all of the Proration Items relating to the period from and 
after the Closing Date. Such preliminary estimated Closing prorations shall be set forth on a 

Closing Statement   The Closing Statement, once 
agreed upon, shall be signed by Buyer and Seller and delivered to the Escrow Agent for purposes 
of making the preliminary proration adjustment at Closing subject to the final cash settlement 
provided for below. The preliminary proration shall be paid at Closing by Buyer to Seller (if the 
preliminary prorations result in a net credit to Seller) or by Seller to Buyer (if the preliminary 
prorations result in a net credit to Buyer) by increasing or reducing the cash to be delivered by 
Buyer in payment of the Purchase Price at the Closing.  If the actual amounts of the Proration Items 
are not known as of the Closing Date, the prorations will be made at Closing on the basis of the 
best evidence then available; thereafter, when actual figures are received (not to exceed one 
hundred eighty (180) days after Closing), re-prorations will be made on the basis of the actual 
figures, and a final cash settlement will be made between Seller and Buyer.  No prorations will be 

Buyer.  Final readings and final billings for utilities will be made if possible as of the Closing Date, 
in which event no proration will be made at Closing with respect to utility bills (and Seller shall 
be responsible for billings prior to Closing and Buyer shall be responsible for billings on and after 
Closing).  Seller will be entitled to all deposits presently in effect with the utility providers (and 
shall not receive a credit at Closing for such deposits), and Buyer will be obligated to make its 
own arrangements for deposits with the utility providers.  The provisions of this Section 9.5 will 
survive the Closing for twelve (12) months. 

(b) Buyer will receive a credit on the Closing Statement for the prorated amount 
(as of 11:59 p.m. Pacific Time on the day prior to the Closing Date) of all Rent previously paid to 
or collected by Seller and attributable to any period following Closing. Rent Delinquent
when they were due prior to the Closing Date, and payment thereof has not been made on or before 
the Closing Date. Delinquent Rents will not be prorated.  All Rents collected by Seller after the 
Closing Date will be promptly delivered to Buyer.  All Rents collected by Buyer from and after 
Closing from each Tenant will be applied, first to current amounts owed by such Tenant to Buyer, 
then to any Delinquent Rents owed by such Tenant to Seller.  Any sums due Seller will be promptly 
remitted to Seller by Buyer. Buyer shall bill Tenants who owe Delinquent Rents for periods prior 
to the Closing Date on a monthly basis for three (3) consecutive months following the Closing 



DRAFT 

24 
 

Date but shall have no obligation to enforce collection of any such Delinquent Rents from or 
against any Tenant.  Seller shall have the right to sue to collect Delinquent Rents but may not seek 
to evict any Tenant or terminate any Lease.  If Seller pursues such action, Seller shall indemnify, 
defend and hold harmless Buyer from and against any and all claims, losses, expenses, costs and 

to such action. 

(c) All ad valorem real estate and personal property taxes and assessments with 
respect to the Property shall be prorated as of 11:59 p.m. Pacific Time on the day prior to the 
Closing Date on the basis of the most recent tax rate, assessed value and tax bill and re-prorated 
when actual figures are received (not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) days after Closing). 

(d) Buyer shall receive a credit against Purchase Price at Closing for all Tenant 
Deposits held by Seller (or for the benefit of Seller), and Seller shall retain the same. 

(e) Buyer shall receive a credit against the Purchase Price at Closing for all 
payments due or owing under any Assumed Contracts for periods prior to the Closing Date, which 
amounts shall be prorated as of 11:59 p.m. Pacific Time on the day prior to the Closing Date.  If 
Seller has paid any amounts under any Assumed Contracts for periods on and after the Closing 
Date, Buyer shall pay such amounts to Seller at Closing in addition to the Purchase Price. 

(f) Seller shall pay (A) 
for the ALTA standard coverage portion of the Title Policy, (C) all recording fees in connection 
with any reconveyance requested hereby, (D) all of the county and one-half of any city 
documentary transfer taxes in connection with the transfer of the Property to Buyer pursuant to 
this Agreement, (C) any costs associated with any Mandatory Cure Items, and (D) any additional 
costs and charges customarily charged to sellers in accordance with common escrow practices in 
the county in which the Property is located, other than those costs and charges specifically required 
to be paid by Buyer hereunder. Buyer shall pay (A) one half of the s fees, (B) the 
premium for the ALTA extended coverage policy, (C) the cost of all endorsements to the Title 
Policy, (D) one-half of any city documentary transfer taxes in connection with the transfer of the 
Property to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement, and (E) any additional costs and charges 
customarily charged to buyers in accordance with common escrow practices in the county in which 
the Property is located, other than those costs and charges specifically required to be paid by Seller 
hereunder. In addition to the foregoing, Buyer shall be responsible for any costs of obtaining an 
ALTA survey of the Property or otherwise conforming the survey to the requirements for issuance 
of such Title Policy or for any new survey that may be required for issuance of such Title Policy.  

(g) Any initial revenues (or upfront payments, bonuses or initiation fees) 
received by Seller made in conjunction with entering into any laundry lease, cable agreement or 
telecommunication agreement that is an Assumed Contract shall be prorated as of the Closing Date 
based on the term of such agreement and the portion of time that has elapsed thereunder. 

(h) All replacement reserves, operating reserves, principal reserve funds or any 
other reserves or prepayments (other than Tenant Deposits) relating to the Property shall not be 
prorated and shall remain with Buyer. 



DRAFT 

25 
 

Section 9.6 Brokers.  Buyer and Seller each hereby represents and warrants to the other 
that it did not employ or use any broker or finder to arrange or bring about this transaction except 
for  [Seller to identify Broker] Broker solely by Seller pursuant to a separate 
agreement.  If any pers
dealings, or communication with Buyer or its Affiliates, excluding Broker, in connection with the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, then Buyer shall defend the Seller Related Parties 
from such claim, and shall indemnify the Seller Related Parties and hold the Seller Related Parties 
harmless from any and all costs, damages, claims, liabilities, or expenses (including, without 

rsements) incurred by the Seller Related Parties 

any contact, dealings, or communication with Seller or its Affiliates, including Broker, in 
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, then Seller shall defend Buyer 
from such claim, and shall indemnify Buyer and hold Buyer harmless from any and all costs, 
damages, claims, liabilities, or expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable 
and disbursements) incurred by Buyer with respect to the claim. The provisions of this Section 9.6 
shall survive the Closing or, if the purchase and sale is not consummated, any termination of this 
Agreement.  

ARTICLE X 
 

FINANCING 

Section 10.1 State Funding Contingency.   Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
 of the Property 

receipt from the State of 
California an award of affordable housing funds in an amount not less than Twelve Million Dollars 
($12,000,000), which proceeds or other evidence of such State funding must be available to Buyer 
at least ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date.   

ARTICLE XI 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 11.1 Amendment and Modification.  Subject to applicable law, this Agreement 
may be amended, modified, or supplemented only by a written agreement signed by Buyer and 
Seller. 

Section 11.2 Loss by Fire, Other Casualty or Condemnation.  In the event that prior 
to the Closing Date, the Property, or any part thereof, is destroyed or damaged by fire or other 

Estimate to the Property, more than Five Hundred Thousand and 
No/100 Dollars ($500,000.00) Threshold Amount
proceedings are commenced or overtly threatened which would involve the taking of any portion 
of the Property valued at more than the Threshold Amount, then Buyer shall have the right, 
exercisable by giving notice to Seller within fifteen (15) days after receiving written notice of such 
damage or destruction or taking either (a) to terminate this Agreement, in which case neither party 
shall have any further rights or obligations hereunder and any money (including, without 



DRAFT 

26 
 

limitation, the Deposit but exclusive of the Independent Consideration) or documents in Escrow 
shall be returned to the party depositing the same, except that Buyer and Seller shall each be 
responsible for one-half of any title or Escrow cancellation fee, or (b) to accept the Property in its 
then condition and proceed to close this transaction with an abatement or reduction in the Purchase 
Price in the amount of the deductible for the applicable insurance coverage, if any, and to receive 

or destruction or condemnation awards payable by reason of such taking.  If Buyer elects to 
proceed under clause (b) above, Seller shall continue to maintain all insurance policies and not 

consent.  Seller agrees to give Buyer prompt notice of any taking, damage or destruction of the 

repair or the amount of the taking, with respect to the Property, is less than or equal to the Threshold 
Amount, then Buyer (w) shall not have the option to terminate this Agreement, (x) shall accept the 
Property in its then condition (y) shall proceed to close this transaction with an abatement or 
reduction in the Purchase Price in the amount of the deductible for the applicable insurance 
coverage, if any, and (z) shall 
proceeds payable by reason of such damage or destruction or condemnation awards payable by 
reason of such taking, provided that Seller shall continue to maintain all insurance policies. 

Section 11.3 Notices.  All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and 
shall be served on the Parties at the following address (including copies as follows): 

If to Buyer: Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation 
701 Atlantic Avenue 
Alameda, CA 94501 

 Attn:  Vanessa Cooper, President 
 Email: vcooper@alamedahsg.org 

With copies to: Downs Pham & Kuei LLP 
 235 Montgomery Street, 30th Floor 
 San Francisco, CA 94104 
 Attn:  Tuan A. Pham 

 Email:  tpham@downspham.com 
 
If to Seller: Alameda Hospitality LLC 
 1628 Webster Street 
 Alameda, CA 94501 
 Attn: [CONFIRM:] Sandip Jariwala 
 Email: [_________________] 
 
With Copies to: [__Seller to provide__________________] 
 [____________________] 
 [____________________] 
 Attn: [___________________] 
 Email: [__________________] 
 



DRAFT 

27 
 

If to Escrow Agent: [__Buyer to provide_________________] 
 [____________________] 
 [____________________] 
 Attn: [___________________] 
 Email: [________________ 

 

Any such notices may be sent by (a) a nationally recognized overnight courier, in which case notice 
shall be deemed delivered one (1) Business Day after deposit with such courier, (b) facsimile 
transmission, or (c) electronic mail (email) transmission, in which case notice shall be deemed 
delivered upon electronic verification that transmission to recipient was completed. The above 
addresses, facsimile numbers and email addresses may be changed by written notice to the other 
party; provided that no notice of a change of address, facsimile number shall be effective until 
actual receipt of such notice. 

Section 11.4 Assignment.  Buyer and Seller shall not have the right to assign this 
Agreement, without the prior written consent of the other party.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Buyer may assign its interests, in whole or in part, to one or more Affiliates of Buyer (including, 
but not limited to, ICD Webster LLC, a California limited liability company) upon written notice 
to Seller, provided that no such assignment shall relieve Buyer of its obligations hereunder.  This 
Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Seller and Buyer and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns, and no other party will be conferred any rights by virtue of this 
Agreement or be entitled to enforce any of the provisions hereof. Whenever a reference is made in 
this Agreement to Seller or Buyer, such reference will include the successors and permitted assigns 
of such party under this Agreement.  

Section 11.5 Governing Law and Consent to Jurisdiction.  THIS AGREEMENT 
SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF 
THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, WITHOUT REGARD TO ANY OTHERWISE APPLICABLE 
PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS. ANY ACTION ARISING OUT OF THIS 
AGREEMENT MUST BE COMMENCED BY BUYER OR SELLER IN THE SUPERIOR 
COURT OF CALIFORNIA COUNTY OF ALAMEDA IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA OR 
IN THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL COURT FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF 
CALIFORNIA WESTERN DIVISION AND EACH PARTY HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE 
JURISDICTION OF THE ABOVE COURTS IN ANY SUCH ACTION AND TO THE LAYING 
OF VENUE IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA. ANY PROCESS IN ANY SUCH ACTION 
SHALL BE DULY SERVED IF MAILED BY REGISTERED MAIL, POSTAGE PREPAID, TO 
THE PARTIES AT THEIR RESPECTIVE ADDRESS DESCRIBED IN SECTION 11.3 
HEREOF. 

Section 11.6 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more fully or 
partially executed counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original binding the signer 
thereof against the other signing parties, but all counterparts together will constitute one and the 
same instrument. 



DRAFT 

28 
 

Section 11.7 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and any other document to be 
furnished pursuant to the provisions hereof embody the entire agreement and understanding of the 
parties hereto as to the subject matter contained herein.  There are no restrictions, promises, 
representations, warranties, covenants, or undertakings other than those expressly set forth or 
referred to in such documents.  This Agreement and such documents supersede all prior 
agreements and understandings among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. 

Section 11.8 Severability.  Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or 
unenforceable will be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without 
rendering invalid or unenforceable the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement or 
affecting the validity or enforceability of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement. 

Section 11.9 Attorney Fees.  If any action is brought by any party to this Agreement to 
enforce or interpret its terms or provisions, the prevailing party will be entitled to reasonable 
attorney fees and costs incurred in connection with such action prior to and at trial and on any 
appeal therefrom. 

Section 11.10 Payment of Fees and Expenses.  Each party to this Agreement will be 
responsible for, and will pay, all of its own fees and expenses, including those of its counsel and 
accountants, incurred in the negotiation, preparation, and consummation of this Agreement and 
the transaction contemplated hereunder. 

Section 11.11 Confidential Information.  The parties acknowledge that the transaction 
described herein is of a confidential nature and shall not be disclosed except to Licensee Parties or 
as required by law.  No party shall make any disclosure of this Agreement or the specific terms of 
this Agreement, except as required by law.  In connection with the negotiation of this Agreement 
and the preparation for the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, each party 
acknowledges that it will have access to confidential information relating to the other party.  Each 
party shall treat such information as confidential, preserve the confidentiality thereof, and not 
duplicate or use such information, except to Licensee Parties in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby.  In the event of the termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, 

copies thereof obtained from Seller in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby), or, 
at its election, destroy the same and confirm to Seller in writing that it has done so, and each party 
shall use its best efforts, including instructing its employees and others who have had access to 
such information, to keep confidential and not to use any such information.  Nothing in this Section 
11.11 or elsewhere in this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements, however, shall prohibit (a) the 
parties from making disclosures to their respective legal counsel, certified public accountants, 
professional advisors, current and prospective lenders and financial partners and investors such 
inspection reports or analyses, (b) the parties from making disclosures that are otherwise required 
as a matter of law, (c) the parties from making disclosures if, at the time of disclosure or thereafter, 
such information is or becomes available to and known by the public other than as a result of a 
disclosure by such party in breach of this Agreement, or (d) the parties from making disclosures 
in connection with asserting or defending any action relating to the Property or this Agreement.  
In addition, the parties to this Agreement (and each of their respective employees, representatives 
or other agents) may disclose to any and all persons, without limitation of any kind, the tax 
treatment and any facts that may be relevant to the tax structure of the transaction contemplated in 



DRAFT 

29 
 

this Agreement, provided, however, that no party (and no employee, representative or other agent 
thereof) shall disclose any other information that is not relevant to understanding the tax treatment 
and tax structure of the transaction (including the identity of the other party and any information 
that could lead another to determine the identity of the other party).  Neither party shall issue or 
cause to be issued a press release in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby without 
the approval of the other party, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  The 
provisions of this Section 11.11 shall survive the Closing or, if the purchase and sale is not 
consummated, any termination of this Agreement.  

Section 11.12 No Joint Venture.  Nothing set forth in this Agreement shall be construed 
to create a joint venture between Buyer and Seller. 

Section 11.13 Judicial Reference; Waiver of Jury Trial.  BUYER AND SELLER 
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AGREE THAT ANY ACTION TO 
RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION (EACH, 

ACTION
OR FUTURE AMENDMENT THEREOF OR (B) IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR 
RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES OR ANY OF THEM 
WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT (AS HEREAFTER AMENDED) OR ANY OTHER 
INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN 
CONNECTION HEREWITH, OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED HERETO OR 
THERETO, IN EACH CASE WHETHER SUCH ACTION IS NOW EXISTING OR 
HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR 
OTHERWISE AND REGARDLESS OF WHICH PARTY ASSERTS SUCH ACTION SHALL 
BE DETERMINED BY JUDICIAL REFERENCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 638, ET SEQ., 
OF THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE AND BUYER AND SELLER SHALL 
ATTEMPT TO SELECT AND PROPOSE JOINTLY TO THE COURT A MUTUALLY 
AGREEABLE RETIRED JUDGE AS A REFEREE AND, FAILING THAT, EACH OF BUYER 
AND SELLER SHALL RECOMMEND TO THE COURT A LIST OF RETIRED JUDGES WHO 
MAY SERVE AS THE REFEREE. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, BUYER AND 
SELLER KNOWINGLY AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO 
TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION TO RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE RELATING TO OR 
ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY PART THEREOF; AND IN CONNECTION 
WITH THIS AGREEMENT, EACH OF BUYER AND SELLER REPRESENTS THAT IT HAS 
DISCUSSED SUCH WAIVER WITH ITS OWN INDEPENDENT COUNSEL AND HAS 
RELIED ON ADVICE OF ITS COUNSEL AND MAKES SUCH WAIVER KNOWINGLY AND 
VOLUNTARILY. THE FOLLOWING MATTERS ARE EXCLUDED FROM JUDICIAL 
REFERENCE: ANY MATTER THAT IS WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF A PROBATE, 
SMALL CLAIMS OR BANKRUPTCY COURT. IN ADDITION, THE FILING OF A COURT 
ACTION TO ENABLE THE RECORDING OF A NOTICE OF PENDING ACTION, FOR 
ORDER OF ATTACHMENT, RECEIVERSHIP, INJUNCTION, OR OTHER PROVISIONAL 
REMEDIES, SHALL BE PERMITTED NOTWITHSTANDING THE PARTIES AGREEMENT 
TO PURSUE JUDICIAL REFERENCE. 

Section 11.14 Further Assurances.  Each party will execute such other and further 
documents and instruments as may be reasonably necessary or proper in order to consummate the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Seller shall, upon written request therefor, execute 



DRAFT 

30 
 

and deliver to Buyer, its successors or assigns, any reasonable new or confirmatory instruments 
and do and perform any other reasonable acts (at no out of pocket cost to Seller) which Buyer or 
its successors or assigns, may reasonably request in order to fully transfer possession and control 
of the Property intended to be transferred and assigned hereby, provided the same shall not affect 

1.14 
shall survive the Closing. 

Section 11.15 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 

Section 11.16 No Waiver.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed, or shall constitute, a waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver, nor shall a waiver in any instance constitute a waiver in any 
subsequent instance.  No waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making 
the waiver. 

Section 11.17 Not an Offer.  The preparation or distribution of drafts hereof by one party 
to the other shall not be deemed to constitute an offer and this Agreement shall only become 
binding and enforceable upon execution hereof by both parties. 

Section 11.18 No Third Party Beneficiaries.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended to 
benefit any third party, or create any third party beneficiary. 

Section 11.19 No Recording.  No party shall record this Agreement or any copy hereof in 
any public records. 

Section 11.20 Exchange.  If requested by either party hereto, the other party shall 
cooperate with the requesting party in reasonable ways to effect an exchange of the Property that 
qualifies for nonrecognition treatment pursuant to Section 1031 of the Code. Any such exchange 
shall not delay or postpone the Closing Date; the cooperating party shall have no liability to the 
requesting party if the exchange fails to qualify for such nonrecognition treatment; the requesting 
party shall not be released from its obligations under this Agreement if the exchange fails for any 
reason; the exchange shall be at no expense to the cooperating party; the cooperating party shall 
not be required to acquire title to any proposed exchange properties to accommodate the requesting 

obligations or liabilities in connection with the exchange or attempted exchange. The requesting 
party shall indemnify and defend the cooperating party against and hold the cooperating party 
harmless from all claims, demands, liabilities, losses, damages, costs and expenses (including, 
without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees, costs of expert witnesses, court costs and other 
litigation expenses) arising from or related to any participation in the exchange or attempted 
exchange. 

 [SIGNATURES APPEAR ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE] 

 



DRAFT 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly 
executed as of the day and year first above written. 

SELLER: 
 

ALAMEDA HOSPITALITY LLC, 
a California limited liability company  
 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
Name: _____________________________ 
Title: _____________________________ 
 

BUYER: 
 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF ALAMEDA, 
a California body corporate and politic 
 
 
By:_________________________________ 
Name:  ______________________________ 
Its:   ________________________________ 
 
 
Dated: ___________ 

 



DRAFT 

 

ESCROW AGENT: 

The Escrow Agent is executing this Agreement to evidence its agreement to hold the 
Deposit and act as escrow agent in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 [_______________________________]: 

 

 By:       
 Name: ______________________________  
 Title: ______________________________  

 

 



DRAFT 

LIST OF EXHIBITS 

 
EXHIBIT A:  Legal Description of Land 

EXHIBIT B:  Documents required during Diligence Period 

EXHIBIT C:  Form of Grant Deed 

EXHIBIT D: Form of Bill of Sale 

EXHIBIT E: Form of Assignment and Assumption of Contracts, Warranties, 
Guaranties and Other Intangible Property 

EXHIBIT F:  -Foreign Affidavit 

EXHIBIT G:  Form of Tenant Notice Letter 

  



DRAFT 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of Land 



DRAFT 

EXHIBIT B 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 

Documents Required During Diligence Period 

1. As-built plans/specs (electrical, mechanical structural). Concept designs for 
additional improvements 

2. Existing inspection reports (roofing, HVAC, seismic, soils) 

3. Prior Property condition assessments, including as needed, structural, 
mechanical, code compliance and ADA compliance. 

4. Existing or former environmental reports and studies 

5. Building permit, licenses, certificates of occupancy or conditional use 
permits 

6. 12 months utility (gas, electrical, water) bills 

7. Building warranties/guarantees 

8. List of personal property 

9. Site plans, brochures, maps and photographs 

10. Copies of existing leases, service contracts; retail leases 

11. Three years operating costs/financials 

12. Description of repairs done in last three years  

 

 



DRAFT 
 

EXHIBIT C 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT C 

Form of Grant Deed 

 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: ) 
     ) 
     ) 
     ) 
     ) 
MAIL TAX STATEMENTS TO: ) 
     ) 
     ) 
     ) 
     ) 
  

(Space above for  

GRANT DEED 

 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, ALAMEDA 
HOSPITALITY LLC, a California limited liability company, hereby grants to ALAMEDA 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION, a California nonprofit public benefit corporation, all of that 
certain real property more particularly described in Schedule 1 attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
this reference, subject to (a) all non-delinquent real property taxes, (b) all non-delinquent special 
assessments, if any. 
 
 
Dated: __________, 2022 

  



DRAFT 
 

EXHIBIT C 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE 1 

 

[add signature block & notary form] 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

EXHIBIT D 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT D 

BILL OF SALE 

For good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, 
ALAMEDA HOSPITALITY LLC, a California limited liability company Seller
sell, transfer, and convey to ALAMEDA AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION, a 
California nonprofit public benefit corporation Buyer
Personal Property

real property more particularly described in on Schedule 1 attached hereto. 
 
The P

 
 

 

Dated this _______ day of ____________________, 2022. 

 



DRAFT 
 

EXHIBIT D 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE 1 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

 
EXHIBIT E 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT E 

Form of Assignment and Assumption of Leases, Contracts, Warranties,  

Guaranties and Other Intangible Property 

Assignment  as of 
____________________ 2022, is between ALAMEDA HOSPITALITY LLC, a California limited 
liability company Assignor ALAMEDA AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION, 
a California nonprofit public benefit corporation Assignee  

 
1. Pursuant to that certain Agreement of Sale and Purchase dated as of [__________, 

2022] Purchase Agreement Assignor has conveyed to Assignee that certain real property 
legally described on Schedule 1 attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (the 
Property

acknowledged, Assignor hereby assigns and transfers to Assignee as of the date title to the Property 
Transfer Date

the extent assignable, and without representation or warranty of any kind whatsoever, express or 
implied: 
 

(a) 
those certain leases, licenses and occupancy agreements affecting the Property more particularly 
described on Schedule 2 Leases  

 
(b) 

certain assignable contracts and agreements relating to the leasing, operation, maintenance and 
repair of Property more particularly described on Schedule 3 attached hereto and incorporated 

Service Agreements  
 
(c) any and all assignable governmental licenses, permits, certificates 

(including certificates of completion and certificates of occupancy), authorizations and approvals 
held by Assignor in connection with the current occupancy, use and operation of, and construction 

Permits  
 
(d) any and all assignable warranties and guaranties including, without 

Warranties  
 
2. Assignee accepts this Assignment and hereby assumes and agrees to perform all of 

the covenants, agreements and obligations of the lessor under the Leases accruing with respect to 

obligations under the Service Agreements, Permits and Warranties accruing with respect to the 
period from and after the Transfer Date. 



DRAFT 
 

EXHIBIT E 
 
 
 

 
3. If legal action is commenced to enforce or to declare the effect of any provision of 

this Assignment, or any document executed in connection with this Assignment, the prevailing 
party shall be entitled to recover from the non-

party in any lawsuit on this Assignment or any document executed in connection with this 

collect or enforce the judgment.  This provision is separate and several and shall survive the merger 
of this Assignment or any document executed in connection with this Assignment into any 
judgment on this Assignment or any document executed in connection with this Assignment. 

 
4. This Assignment shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the parties herein, 

their heirs, executors, administrators, successors in interest and assigns. 
 
5. This Assignment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 

of the State of California. 
 
6. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed or construed as modifying the respective 

rights, obligations and liabilities of Assignor and Assignee and/or limitations thereon, under the 
Purchase Agreement. 

 
 

[Signatures Appear On The Following Page.] 
  



DRAFT 
 

EXHIBIT E 
 
 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Assignment and Assumption is made as of the day and 

year first above written. 

Assignor and Assignee have executed this Agreement the day and year first above written. 
 

ASSIGNOR: 
 
ALAMEDA HOSPITALITY LLC, 
a California limited liability company  
 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
Name: _____________________________ 
Title: _____________________________ 
 

ASSIGNEE: 
 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF ALAMEDA, 
a California body corporate and politic 
 
 
By:_________________________________ 
Name:  ______________________________ 
Its:   ________________________________ 
 
 



DRAFT 
 

 
EXHIBIT E 

 
 
 

SCHEDULE 1 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 



DRAFT 
 

 
EXHIBIT E 

 
 
 

SCHEDULE 2 

LEASES 
 

 



DRAFT 
 

 
EXHIBIT E 

 
 
 

SCHEDULE 3 

SERVICE AGREEMENTS 



DRAFT 
 

EXHIBIT F 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT F 

Form of S -Foreign Affidavit 

Under Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the US Code ), 
and Sections 18805 and 26131 of the California Revenue and taxation Code, a transferee of California real 
property interest must withhold tax if the transferor is a foreign person or a non-resident of California.  To 
inform ALAMEDA AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION, a California nonprofit public benefit 
corporation Transferee
by ALAMEDA HOSPITALITY LLC, a California limited liability company Transferor , of that 
certain real property located in the State of California and more particularly described in Exhibit 1 attached 

Property following on behalf of Transferor: 

1. Transferor is not a foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust, or foreign 
estate, as those terms are defined in the US Code and the Income Tax Regulations promulgated thereunder; 

2. oyer identification number is [______________]; and 

3. Transferor has a permanent place of business in [_______], California.  The office 
California is [_________, __________, CA _____]. 

4. Transferor is not a disregarded entity as defined in §1.1445.2(b)(2)(iii). 

Transferor understands that this Certification may be disclosed to the Internal Revenue 
Service and/or the California Franchise Tax board and that any false statement contained herein could be 
punished by fine, imprisonment, or both. 

Transferor understands that Transferee is relying on this Certificate in determining whether 
withholding is or will be required in connection with the transfer of the Property by Transferor to 
Transferee, and that Transferee may face liabilities if any statement contained in this certificate is false. 

Transferor hereby indemnifies Transferee, and agrees to hold Transferee harmless, from 
any liability or cost which such Transferee may incur as a result of: (i) the Tr
U.S. Federal Income tax which Transferor is required to pay under applicable federal law, (ii) the 

California State Income Tax which Transferor is required to pay under applicable 
California law, or (iii) any false or misleading statement contained herein. 

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this Certification and to the best 
of my knowledge declare that I have authority to sign this document on behalf of Transferor. 

  



DRAFT 
 

EXHIBIT F 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

  
 



DRAFT 
 

EXHIBIT G 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT G 

TENANT NOTICE LETTER 

STATEMENT TO TENANT RE: TRANSFER AND SECURITY DEPOSIT 

______________________, 20__ 

  
Name of Tenant 

  
Address 

Dear Tenant: 

On ________________________, 20__, the property commonly known as [Adaptive Reuse 
Project], located at 1628 Webster Street, Alameda, CA 94501 Property
a tenant, was sold to __________________ Buyer  ______________.  You 
are provided with the following information relating to the transfer of your security deposit from 
us to Buyer: 

Name of Tenant:    
Suite or Unit Number:    
Amount of your original deposit:  $  
Nature of our claims made against your deposit: 
  
  
  
Amount of our claims made against your deposit:  $  
Balance of deposit transferred to Buyer:  $  

 
__________________ _____ _________________ 
_____________________________ 

Effective with the transfer of the Property to Buyer, Buyer has assumed all obligations of 
the landlord under your lease of the Property.  Please direct all future rent payments and/or inquiries with 
respect to the Property or your lease to Buyer at the above address.  

Very truly yours, 

[_____________________________] 
 
By: _________________________________ 
Name: _________________________________ 
Title: ________________________________ 

 



   

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners
 

From: Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing Development 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Authorize the Executive Director, or her designee, to Execute an 
Option for Island City Development, or its affiliate, to purchase the 
Improvements at 1628 Webster Street. 

BACKGROUND
The Housing Authority has sought to acquire a contingent purchase and sale agreement 
with the owner of the property at 1628 Webster Street, in order to create additional 
affordable housing. If successful in this endeavor, the Housing Authority will partner with 
Island City Development to develop, own and operate the new affordable development. 
 The Housing  Authority has already approved  an option to ground lease the land to 
Island City Development.  In addition, Island City Development will need an option to 
purchase the improvements.  

DISCUSSION
The purchase of the improvements will occur concurrently with the purchase of the 
property (expected in June 2023, likely in a double escrow).  The Purchase and Sale 
Agreement between the owner and the Housing Authority has been negotiated with this 
concept in mind.  The cost will be the negotiated purchase price of the improvements so 
that the Housing Authority is only paying for the land, which it will retain as owner.   

FISCAL IMPACT
It is intended that there will not be any additional  impact of the sale of the 
improvements to the Housing Authority, since the cost of the purchase will be taken on 
by Island City Development.  The Housing Authority has already provided the option to 
ground lease at a subsidized payment, and approved other soft loans to make the 
development feasible. The option to purchase includes a clause that the Housing 
Authority soft loan can be structured as a seller carryback loan for the improvements, if 
desired.  

CEQA
Not Applicable. 



RECOMMENDATION
Authorize the Executive Director, or her designee, to Execute an Option for Island City 
Development, or its affiliate, to purchase the Improvements at 1628 Webster Street. 

ATTACHMENTS
1. Att 1 Draft Form of 1628 Webster Option Agreement

Respectfully submitted,

Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing Development



DRAFT 

1628 Webster Option Agreement 1 

Attach 1 Draft Form of 1628 Eagle Option Agreement 
 

OPTION AGREEMENT 
 

Agreement is effective as of [_], 2022, by and 
between Housing Authority of the City of Alameda Seller Island City Development, a 
California nonprofit public benefit corporation, or its assigns Purchaser  
 

RECITALS 
 

A. Seller is in contract for the purchase of the land located in the City of Alameda, CA 
94501, and described as 1628 Webster further described in Exhibit A attached hereto and 

Land .  The site currently includes commercial building 
improvements Improvements situated on the Land.   

B. Purchaser desires to procure, and Seller desires to grant, an option to enter into a 
purchase with respect to the Improvements upon the terms and provisions as hereinafter set forth.  
The fee interest in any Improvements to be developed on the Land are referred to collectively 

Property  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements contained herein, the 
parties hereto agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. Grant of Option.  For One Dollar ($1.00) and other good and valuable 
consideration, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, Seller does hereby grant to Purchaser the 
exclusive right and option to acquire Option  

2. Exercise of Option.  Purchaser may exercise its Option at any time during the period 
commencing on the date hereof and expiring on March 30, 2024 Option Term
written notice thereof to Seller.  In the event the Purchaser does not exercise its Option during the 
Option Term, this Agreement shall become null and void and neither party hereto shall have any 
other liability, obligation or duty hereunder.   

3. Contract For Purchase of the Improvements.  In the event that the Purchaser 
exercises the Option, unless otherwise mutually agreed, both parties agree to execute a contract in 
accordance with the following terms and conditions: 

(a) Price.  The purchase contract shall have the following terms:  (a) have base 
price equal to the  of the Improvements, and (b) 
such other terms and conditions agreed upon by Seller and Purchaser. 

(b) Financing.  Seller may agree to provide seller takeback financing for a 
portion of the purchase price; bearing interest at the applicable federal rate; with a term of 55 years 
(or a lesser term if elected by Purchaser); secured by a mortgage against the Property; subordinate 
to a senior construction to permanent bank loan and any other loans from governmental agencies; 



DRAFT 

1628 Webster Option Agreement 2 

repaid from residual receipts (after payment of developer fee, general partner management fee of 
$25,000 per year with an annual increase of 3%, and an investor asset management fee of $5,000 
per year with an annual increase of 3%); and subject to commercially reasonable terms, including 
those in favor of an investor, for low income housing tax credit projects. 

(c) Closing Date.  The closing date shall be on any date during the Option Term 
as may be selected by Purchaser, provided that Purchaser shall make good faith efforts to provide 
30 days prior notice of the closing date. 

(d) Closing Costs.  The Purchaser and Seller shall each pay their respective 
costs of closing the purchase in accordance with custom in the city in which the Property is located. 

(e) As Is.  Except as specifically provided in writing by Seller, Purchaser shall 
acquire - n  with such 
endorsements as Purchaser shall reasonably require, subject only to those monetary encumbrances 
recorded against the Property as agreed to in writing by Purchaser. 

(f) Subdivision.  Seller and Purchaser shall cooperate in causing the Land to be 
a separate legal parcel under applicable law, which shall be a condition precedent to closing under 
this Agreement.  At the election of Purchaser, Purchaser may cause the Land to be further 
subdivided into 2 separate legal parcels or converted to a condominium with 2 condo units, in 
which case (1) Seller shall reasonably cooperate with such subdivision or conversion efforts, and 
(2) this Agreement shall be replaced with 2 separate option agreements for the 2 parcels or units, 
each with the same terms and conditions as in this Agreement. 

(g) Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  Seller hereby represents, 
warrants and covenants as follows: 

(i) Except as otherwise permitted by Purchaser in writing in its sole 
discretion, Seller shall (A) maintain and operate the Property in its current condition and operation; 
(B) not enter into any lease, agreement or contract or a modification thereof (including existing 
loans or liens on the Property) affecting the Property unless such lease, agreement or contract shall 
terminate upon transfer of the Property or is approved by Purchaser in its sole discretion; (C) 
comply with all material contracts, agreements and obligations with respect to the Property; (D) 
maintain current amounts of fire, extended coverage, hazard and other insurance for the Property; 
and (E) not sell, assign, dispose of or further encumber the Property. 

(ii) Seller shall not commit or permit any act that would diminish or 
reement. 

(iii) Seller shall within 20 days of the date hereof provide to Purchaser 
all documents, contracts, agreements and other information regarding the Property that is within 
the possession or control of Seller. 

(iv) During the Option Term, Purchaser and its agents shall have the 
right, upon reasonable notice and during reasonable times and without unreasonably interfering 
with the normal operation of the Property, to enter upon the Property to conduct inspections and 
testing (including surveying and environmental assessments)



DRAFT 

1628 Webster Option Agreement 3 

books and records with respect to the Property.  Seller shall reasonably cooperate with Purchaser 
in inspecting and evaluating the Property, applying for or obtaining financing for the Property and 
obtaining entitlements or permits with respect to the Property. 

4. General Provisions. 

(a) Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement between 
the parties, and supersedes all prior negotiations, drafts, and other understandings which the parties 
may have had concerning the subject matter hereof. 

(b) Time.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 

(c) Successors.  The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, 
and shall be binding upon, the heirs, successors, executors, administrators and assigns of the parties 
hereto.  Seller agrees that Purchaser shall have the right to assign this Agreement or to nominate 
another person (including, without limitation, a limited partnership controlled by Purchaser) to 
take title to the Property without Selle . 

(d) Amendments.  This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by 
written documents signed by all parties hereto. 

(e) Severability.  Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be 
interpreted so as to be effective and valid under applicable law.  If any provision of this Agreement 
is held to be prohibited by, or invalid under, applicable law, the remainder of this Agreement and 
any other application of such provision shall not be affected thereby. 

(f) Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original instrument.  All such 
counterparts together shall constitute one and the same Agreement. 

(g) Notice.  Any notice, demand, request, consent or other communication 
which either party desires or is required to give to any other party shall be in writing and shall be 
deemed to have been given when either: (a) delivered in person or by facsimile transfer, or (b) sent 
by overnight courier or first-class registered or certified mail, postage pre-paid, return receipt 

Agreement.  Either party may designate another address for itself at any time upon written notice 
to the other party. 

(h) Headings.  The titles and headings of the various sections of this Agreement 
have been inserted only for convenience of reference.  They are not part of this Agreement and 
may not be used to construe or interpret any of the terms hereof. 

(i) Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in 
accordance with, the law of the State of California. 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 



DRAFT 

1628 Webster Option Agreement 4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date set 
forth above. 

SELLER: 

Housing Authority of the City of Alameda, 
a public body corporate and politic 

 
 
By:      
 Vanessa Cooper 

Executive Director 
 
Address: 
 
Housing Authority of the City of Alameda 
701 Atlantic Avenue 
Alameda, CA 94501 
Attn: Executive Director 
  
 
PURCHASER: 

Island City Development,  
a California nonprofit public benefit corporation  

 
By:      
 Vanessa Cooper  
 President 
 
Address: 
 
Island City Development  
c/o Housing Authority of the City of Alameda 
701 Atlantic Avenue 
Alameda, CA 94501 
Attn: Executive Director 
 



 

2615 Eagle Avenue Exhibit A Option Agreement 

EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description 

 



   

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners
 

From: Vanessa Cooper, Executive Director 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Adopt Resolution of the Board of Commissioners of the Housing 
Authority of the City of Alameda Ratifying the Proclamation of a 
State of Emergency by the Governor of the State of California on 
March 4, 2021, and Making Findings Authorizing Continued 
Remote Teleconference Meetings of the Board of Commissioners 
Pursuant to Brown Act Provisions, as amended by Assembly Bill 
No. 361. 

BACKGROUND
On March 17, 2020, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-29-20 which allowed 
for relaxed provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act (Brown Act) that allowed legislative 
bodies to conduct meetings through teleconferencing without having to meet the strict 
compliance of the Brown Act. All provisions of Executive Order N-29-20 concerning the 
conduct of public meetings via teleconferencing expired on September 30, 2021. 

DISCUSSION
Assembly Bill 361(Chapter 165,Statutes of 2021) (AB 361)  was signed into law by the 
Governor on September 16, 2021, and went into effect immediately. It amends the 
Brown Act to allow local legislative bodies to continue using teleconferencing and virtual 
meeting technology after the September 30, 2021 expiration of the current Brown Act 
exemptions as long as there is a "proclaimed state of emergency" by the Governor. This 
allowance also depends on state or local officials imposing or recommending measures 
that promote social distancing or a legislative body finding that meeting in person would 
present an imminent safety risk to attendees. Though adopted in the context of the 
pandemic, AB 361 will allow for virtual meetings during other proclaimed emergencies, 
such as earthquakes or wildfires, where physical attendance may present a risk. AB 361 
will sunset on January 1, 2024.

AB 361 requires the following to continue to conduct teleconferenced meetings:

1. Notice of the meeting must still be given in compliance with the Brown Act, and 
the notice must include the means by which the public may access the meeting 



and provide public comment remotely.
2. The public must be provided access to the meeting via a call-in option or internet-

based service option and allowed to “address the legislative body directly.” The 
Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation does not have to provide an in-person 
option for the public to attend the meeting.

3. The meeting must be conducted “in a manner that protects the statutory and 
constitutional rights of the parties and the public appearing before the legislative 
body.”

4. If there is a disruption to the meeting broadcast or in the ability to take call-in or 
internet-based public comment, no further action can be taken on agenda items 
until the issue is resolved, even if this means stopping the meeting at that point 
and continuing all remaining items.

5. The Board of Directors cannot require comments to be submitted before the start 
of the meeting. The public must be allowed to make “real time” public comment.

6. Reasonable time for public comment must be provided. If the Board provides a 
timed public comment period, the public comment period must be left open until 
the time expires. 

7. All votes must be taken by roll call. 
8. The Board of Directors must approve a resolution making findings by majority 

vote within 30 days of the first teleconferenced meeting under AB 361  and every 
30 days thereafter to continue to conduct teleconference meetings under AB 361. 
The body must find it has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of 
emergency and either 1) the emergency continues to impact the ability to meet 
safely in person, or 2) State or local officials continue to impose or recommend 
social distancing. 

In light of AB 361, the continuing COVID-19 State of Emergency declared by the 
Governor, the continuing Local Emergency declared by the City of Alameda, the 
continuing recommendations by the County of Alameda Health Officer  of social 
distancing as a mechanism for preventing the spread of COVID-19, and the continued 
threats to health and safety posed by indoor public meetings, staff recommends the 
Board of Directors adopt the proposed Resolution making the findings required to 
initially invoke AB 361.
 
The procedures currently set up for Board of Directors' meetings, which provide public
attendance and comment through a call-in or internet-based service option, satisfy the
requirements of AB 361. The Executive Director, or designee, will work with he Board to 
ensure that meeting procedures for all teleconferenced meetings  comply with AB 361. 
Continued reliance will require the Board of Directors to adopt a new resolution making 
required findings every 30 days. 

FISCAL IMPACT
None. 

CEQA
N/A 



RECOMMENDATION
Adopt Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Alameda Affordable Housing 
Corporation Ratifying the Proclamation of a State of Emergency by the Governor of the 
State of California on March 4, 2021, and Making Findings Authorizing Continued 
Remote Teleconference Meetings of the Board of Directors Pursuant to Brown Act 
Provisions, as amended by Assembly Bill No. 361. 

ATTACHMENTS
1. DRAFT RESOLUTION No. 1036 - AB 361 Resolution (06.15.22)
2. AB 361.pdf 2021_danprint

Respectfully submitted,

Vanessa Cooper, Executive Director



 
 

Resolution No. 1036 



 
 



 
 









The people of the State of California do enact as follows: 


































